COMMENTS ON THE BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT'S PROPOSED RESOURCE MANAGEMENT PLANNING RULES

81 Fed. Reg. 9674 (Feb. 25, 2016)

Docket BLM-2016-0002

May 25, 2016

Submitted by:

Apache County, Arizona; Arizona Association of Conservation Districts, Arizona; Big Sandy Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona; Hereford Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona; Willcox-San Simon Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona; Winkelman Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona; Modoc County, California; Modoc County Cattlemen's Association, California; Garfield County, Colorado; Custer County, Idaho; Chaves County, New Mexico; Eddy County, New Mexico; Hidalgo County, New Mexico; Luna County, New Mexico; Otero County, New Mexico: Chaves Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico: Coronado Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico: Dona Ana Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico; Elephant Butte Irrigation District, New Mexico; Hidalgo Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico; Otero Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico; Protect Americans Now, New Mexico; Santa Fe-Pojoaque Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico; Sierra Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico; Baker County, Oregon; Eastern Oregon Mining Association, Oregon; Forest Access For All, Oregon; American Stewards of Liberty, Texas; Carbon County, Utah; Juab County, Utah; Kane County, Utah; Piute County, Utah; Sanpete County, Utah; Sevier County, Utah; Wayne County, Utah; Big Horn County, Wyoming.

Table of Contents

I.	The Proposed Rules Conflict With FLPMA Section 202(c)(9)					
	A.	The Requirements Imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9)				
		1. 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (first sentence)—Duty to Coordinate				
		2.	43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (second sentence)—Implementation Requirements			
		3.	43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (third sentence)—Advice to the Secretary7			
		4.	43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (fourth sentence)—Consistency with State and Local Plans			
	B.	§ 1610.3–1 Coordination of Planning Efforts				
		1.	1. § 1610.3–1(a) Objectives of Coordination			
		2.	§ 16	10.3–1(b) Cooperating Agencies		
		3.	§ 16	10.3-1(c) Coordination Requirements		
	C.	§ 1610.3–2 Consistency Requirements				
	D.	§ 1601.0–5 Definitions				
	E.	Coordination and Consistency Review on Implementation Strategies				
	F.	Additional Changes Needed to Comply with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9)				
		1.	Early	v Coordination with Affected State and Local Governments 17		
			a.	Early Identification of State and Local Land Use Plans and Programs, and Potential Conflicts17		
			b.	Coordination on Inventory and Related Information17		
			c.	Coordination on Secretarial and BLM Policies and Direction		
		2.		dination With State and Local Governments on Key Planning		
			a.	Proposed § 1610.1-2 Plan Components		
			b.	Proposed § 1610.1–3 Implementation Strategies		
			c.	Proposed § 1610.4 Planning Assessment		
			d.	Proposed § 1610.5–1 Identification of Planning Issues		
			e.	Proposed § 1610.5–2 Formulation of Resource Management Alternatives		
			f.	Proposed § 1610.5–4 Preparation of the Draft Resource Management Plan and Selection of Preferred Alternatives		

			g. Proposed § 1610.6–1 Resource management plan approval and implementation	26	
Π.	The Proposed Rules Cannot Be Categorically Excluded from Analysis under NEPA.				
	A.	NEPA Background			
	В.	The BLM Should Not Have Applied a Categorical Exclusion to the Proposed Rules			
		1.	The BLM's Reliance on a CE Is a Significant Departure From Prior Agency Practice	29	
		2.	"Major Federal Actions" Include Programmatic Regulations for the Management of the Public Lands	29	
		3.	The Proposed Rules Are Intended to Implement Substantive Changes in the Manner the Public Lands Are Managed and Used	31	
	C.		aordinary Circumstances Prevent Application of a Categorical usion to Proposed Rules.	32	
		1.	The Proposed Rules Have Highly Controversial Effects on the Human Environment	33	
		2.	The Proposed Rules Involve Potentially Significant Environmental Effects and Unique and Unknown Environmental Risks.	34	
		3.	The Proposed Rules Establish Precedent for Future Actions and Represent a Decision In Principle About Future Actions With Potentially Significant Environmental Effects	34	
		4.	The Proposed Rules Will Have Significant Impacts on Public Health and Safety	35	
	D.	The Proposed Rules Are Part of a Larger Interior Department Program, the Effects of Which Should Be Evaluated and Disclosed to the Public			
			uant to NEPA		
		1.	Overview of NEPA's Requirements	36	
		2.	The Interior Department's New Land and Resource Management Programs.	37	
			a. The Climate Change Adaption Program	37	
			b. The Landscape-Scale Mitigation Program	40	
		3.	A Programmatic EIS Is Required to Evaluate and Disclose the Impacts of the Interior Department's Programs	44	
II.	Addit	ional C	Comments on the Proposed Rules.	45	
	A.	The I	Removal of "Implementation Strategies" from BLM Land Use Plans		

В.	B. The Proposed Planning Assessment Process Is Unworkable and Biased Against Traditional Public Lands Uses					
C.	BLM's Definition of "High Quality Information" Conflicts with BLM Policy and Would Allow the Use of Questionable Data	. 54				
D.	The Protest Standard is Being Improperly Narrowed	. 57				
Table 1 Comparison of Current § 1610.4-4 and Proposed § 1610.4(c) Planning Elements 59						

COMMENTS ON THE BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT'S PROPOSED RESOURCE MANAGEMENT PLANNING RULES

81 Fed. Reg. 9674 (Feb. 25, 2016)

Docket BLM-2016-0002

May 25, 2016

The 2.0 Coalition¹ hereby submits its comments on the proposed Resource Management Planning Rules, 81 Fed. Reg. 9674 (Feb. 25, 2016), issued by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) (the Proposed Rules). The 2.0 Coalition maintains that the Proposed Rules are defective and, if adopted, would violate the Federal Land Policy and Management Act (FLPMA), 43 U.S.C. § 1701 *et seq*. In particular, the Proposed Rules would rewrite FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), codified at 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9), and undermine the role of States and local governments in public land use inventory, planning and management. In short:

- Because of the importance of the public lands to western states and, in particular, rural areas and their economies, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) requires meaningful <u>coordination</u> by the BLM with State and local governments with respect to land use inventory, planning, and management activities.
- In addition, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) authorizes the elected and appointed officials of State and local governments to <u>furnish advice</u> to the BLM concerning the development and revision of land use guidelines, land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands within their respective States.
- FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) also requires the BLM to provide State and local governments **meaningful involvement** in the development of BLM land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands.
- Finally, under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), land use plans adopted by the BLM must be <u>consistent</u> with State and local plans to the maximum extent possible, unless FLPMA or other federal law requires otherwise. Furthermore, the BLM must assist in resolving, to the extent practical, inconsistencies between federal land use plans and State and local government plans.

As shown below, the Proposed Rules would marginalize these important requirements, essentially placing States and local governments in the same position as the general public. Thus, a person residing hundreds or even thousands of miles from the planning area would have essentially the same rights as local governments, whose citizens and economies depend on the use of public lands. Clearly this was not what Congress envisioned when it enacted FLPMA.

¹ The 2.0 Coalition is a coalition of western rural counties and special districts. Its members are identified in Exhibit A, attached hereto.

In addition, the BLM is proceeding to overhaul its rules governing land management planning in violation of the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 (NEPA), 42 U.S.C. § 4332, the rules implementing NEPA issued by the Council on Environmental Quality (CEQ), 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1 *et seq.*, and the Department of the Interior, 43 C.F.R. § 46.10 *et seq.*, by purporting to rely on a categorical exclusion from NEPA. Thus, the BLM is refusing to prepare an environmental impact statement or even an environmental assessment. Instead, the agency claims that the Proposed Rules are "entirely procedural in nature" and are categorically excluded from NEPA review. This is nonsense. The Proposed Rules will significantly alter the manner in which the public lands are used and managed by, among other things, altering FLPMA's multiple use mandate and incorporating a panoply of secretarial orders, directives and policies (which themselves were not subject to NEPA review or public review and comment).

Remarkably, the BLM's sister agency, the U.S. Forest Service, recently issued a programmatic environmental impact statement prior to adopting its current planning rules for the National Forest System. *See* U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, National Forest System Land Management Planning, Final Programmatic Environmental Impact Statement (2012).² The Forest Service recognized the significance of its planning rules and conducted an extensive and open public process, enhanced by a science forum, regional and national roundtables, national and regional tribal roundtables, Tribal consultation meetings, and national and regional public forums.³ Here, by contrast, the BLM is ignoring both the NEPA process and its legal obligation to coordinate under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) in adopting the Proposed Rules as quickly as possible.

Moreover, the Proposed Rules are connected with, and are intended to support implementation of, the Interior Department's broader climate change and landscape-scale mitigation program. *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9678-79. Department documents show that this program will dramatically alter federal land and resource planning and management. Yet, the Interior Department has ignored NEPA (as well its coordination obligations under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9)), and instead is proceeding to implement this program in a piecemeal fashion. In order to comply with NEPA, these interrelated actions, including the Proposed Rules, must be evaluated together, as part of a department-wide program, rather than being segmented to avoid NEPA. Until that process has been completed, it would be improper to overhaul the BLM's current rules governing resource management planning.

There are other aspects of the Proposed Rules that are defective and, in some cases, would effectively rewrite FLPMA. The BLM has proposed to eliminate several important and required components of land use plans and recast them as "implementation strategies" that will function as rules governing land uses and land management decisions without compliance with FLPMA, NEPA, and the Administrative Procedure Act. In addition, the BLM's proposed changes to the planning assessment process represent a significant shift away from State and

² Available at <u>http://www.fs.usda.gov/detail/planningrule/home/?cid=stelprdb5349164</u> (visited April 6, 2016).

³ See Collaboration & Public Involvement webpage, available at <u>http://www.fs.usda.gov/main/planningrule/collaboration</u> (visited April 6, 2016).

local concerns and traditional multiple use principles, and instead would emphasize national policies of questionable validity and land preservation. The BLM also is proposing to allow land planning and management decisions to be based on questionable scientific information in violation of the Information Quality Act and the BLM's Information Quality Guidelines. Lastly, the BLM's proposed narrowing of the requirements for protesting a land use plan or plan amendment will limit the ability of the public to challenge the BLM on many issues involved in the development of land use plans. Each of these issues is discussed in greater detail in the comments below. But it is apparent that the Proposed Rules are intended to effectuate a dramatic change in how the public lands are managed and what uses will be permitted, while ignoring NEPA and coordination and consistency review under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

I. The Proposed Rules Conflict With FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

A. The Requirements Imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

FLPMA, among other things, requires that the Interior Secretary "manage the public lands under principles of multiple use and sustained yield, in accordance with the land use plans developed by him under section 1712 of this title when they are available, except that where a tract of such public land has been dedicated to specific uses according to any other provisions of law it shall be managed in accordance with such law." 43 U.S.C. § 1732(a). The requirements for the development of land use plans⁴ are set forth in FLPMA Section 202, 43 C.F.R. § 1712. Subsection (c)(9) of this section imposes coordination and consistency requirements on the Interior Secretary. Specifically, this provision states:

(9) to the extent consistent with the laws governing the administration of the public lands, coordinate the land use inventory, planning, and management activities of or for such lands with the land use planning and management programs of other Federal departments and agencies and of the States and local governments within which the lands are located, ... and of or for Indian tribes by, among other things, considering the policies of approved State and tribal land resource management programs. In implementing this directive, the Secretary shall, [1] to the extent he finds practical, keep apprised of State, local, and tribal land use plans; [2] assure that consideration is given to those State, local, and tribal plans that are germane in the development of land use plans for public lands; [3] assist in resolving, to the extent practical, inconsistencies between Federal and non-Federal Government plans, and [4] shall provide for meaningful public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands, including early public notice of proposed decisions which may have a significant impact on non-Federal lands. Such officials in each State are authorized to furnish advice to the Secretary with respect to the development and revision of land use plans, land use guidelines,

⁴ In its regulations, the BLM refers to "resource management plans" rather than "land use plans." In these comments, the 2.0 Coalition will use the term "land use plans" to be consistent with the terminology used in FLPMA, unless quoting a BLM regulation or other agency document.

land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands within such State and with respect to such other land use matters as may be referred to them by him. Land use plans of the Secretary under this section shall be consistent with State and local plans to the maximum extent he finds consistent with Federal law and the purposes of this Act.

43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (reference to "statewide outdoor recreation plans" removed; numbering added for reference purposes).

This provision is based on settled law recognizing that the States and local governments are "free to enforce [their] criminal and civil laws on federal land so long as those laws do not conflict with federal law." *California Coastal Comm'n v. Granite Rock Co.*, 480 U.S. 572 (1987) (quoting *Kleppe v. New Mexico*, 426 U.S. 529, 543 (1976)); *see also People ex rel. Deukmejian v. Cty. of Mendocino*, 36 Cal. 3d 476, 491, 683 P.2d 1150, 1160 (1984) (holding that county regulation of aerial spraying of pesticides was not preempted by federal law). Even though the public lands are owned by the United States, States and local governments have the authority to plan for and regulate activities occurring on the public lands, unless such regulation is preempted by a federal law. FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) explicitly recognizes and protects that authority.

FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) is also based on the recommendations of the Public Land Law Review Commission. In its seminal report to the President and to the Congress, *One Third of the Nation's Land*, which provided the underpinning for much of FLPMA, the Commission explained that State and local units of government "represent the people and institutions most directly affected by Federal programs growing out of land use planning." *One Third of the Nation's Land* 61 (1970).⁵ The Commission felt so strongly about the need to involve State and local governments in the planning and management of the public lands that it recommended:

To encourage state and local government involvement in the planning process in a meaningful way, as well as to avoid conflict and assure the cooperation necessary to effective regional and local planning, the Commission believes that consideration of state and local impacts should be mandatory. To accomplish this, *Federal agencies should be required to submit their plans to state or local government agencies*....

The coordination [between federal agencies and State and local governments] which will be required if the Commission's recommendations are adopted is so essential to effective public land use planning that it should be mandatory. . . . *The Commission recommends, therefore, that Congress provide by statute that*

⁵ Available at <u>https://archive.org/details/onethirdofnation3431unit</u> (visited May 21, 2016). The Public Land Law Review Commission was established as an independent federal agency by an act of September 19, 1964 (78 Stat. 982). Its function was to review the federal public land laws and regulations and recommend a public land policy. For more background, see National Archives, Records of the Public Land Law Review, available at <u>http://www.archives.gov/research/guide-fed-records/groups/409.html</u>.

Federal action programs may be invalidated by court orders upon adequate proof that procedural requirements for planning coordination have not been observed.

Id. at 63 (italics in original).

The report of the House Interior and Insular Affairs Committee accompanying the House bill (which provided much of the text of FLPMA) similarly stated:

The underlying mission for the public lands is the multiple use of resources on a sustained-yield basis. Corollary to this is the selective transfer of public lands to other ownership where the public interest will be served thereby. The proper multiple use mix of retained public lands is to be achieved by comprehensive land use planning, *coordinated with State and local planning*.

H.R. Rep. No. 94-1163, at 2 (1976), *reprinted* in 1976 U.S.C.C.A.N. 6175, 6176 (emphasis added).

On its face, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) imposes a number of different and overlapping requirements and obligations on the Interior Secretary (and, therefore, the BLM) with respect to coordinating with State and local governments and maintaining consistency with the land use plans, programs and policies of State and local governments. These requirements are discussed below. As shown, they are far broader than acknowledged in the Proposed Rules. Consequently, the Proposed Rules, if adopted, would violate FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

1. 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (first sentence)—Duty to Coordinate.

First, the BLM must "coordinate" the agency's "land use inventory, planning, and management activities" with "the land use planning and management programs of the States and local governments within which the lands are located." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (first sentence). In coordinating, the BLM must consider the "policies of approved State and tribal land resource management programs." *Id.* The verb "coordinate" means "to put in the same order or rank" or, alternatively, "to bring into common action, movement, or condition: HARMONIZE." Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 255 (10th ed. 2000). In other words, the requirement to "coordinate" requires that the BLM treat the land use planning and management activities of State and local governments as equal in rank and *harmonize* the BLM's land use inventory, planning, and management activities with the activities of State and local governments "to the extent consistent with the laws governing the administration of the public lands."

The plain language of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) indicates that the requirement to coordinate is significantly broader than simply coordinating BLM and local land use plans. Instead, coordination should occur with respect to all BLM "land use inventory, planning, and management activities" and all State and local government "land use planning and management programs." *Id.* Thus, coordination is required, for example, in connection with assessing the resource, environmental, ecological, social, and economic conditions prior to developing land use plans and other land planning and management guidance; developing and identifying the policies, guidance, strategies and plans for consideration in developing land use plans; formulating land use and resource management alternatives; and developing management

measures that are used to implement land use plans following their adoption (called "implementation strategies" in the Proposed Rules).

As noted, BLM inventory, planning, and management activities do not have to be coordinated with State and local governments if doing so is inconsistent with "*the laws governing the administration of the public lands*." *Id.* (emphasis added). Thus, on its face, this limitation applies when a federal *law* governing public land management, such as FLPMA, conflicts with a State or local government land use planning and management program. Federal laws that do not address the "administration of the public lands" are irrelevant to this limitation, however. Likewise, agency regulations, directives, policies, and guidance documents are irrelevant because they are not laws. Consequently, the existence of Secretarial orders, regulations, policies, directives, and similar agency guidance documents do not limit the BLM's obligation to coordinate, with the objective of resolving inconsistencies. Likewise, the existence of Secretarial and agency policies and directives do not serve as a basis to avoid ensuring consistency.

Finally, agency regulations, directives, policies, and guidance documents, such as the Proposed Rules, Secretarial orders and directives, the BLM Land Use Planning Handbook, the Interior Departmental Manual, and the Interior Department's Climate Change Adaptation Plan, are themselves subject to coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) to the extent such documents provide substantive direction for land use planning and management. Under proposed § 1610.4(a)(2), these documents will be identified as part of the planning assessment and used to develop the resource management plan. Coordination must occur in connection with developing these documents in order to comply with the requirements of FLPMA.

2. 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (second sentence)—Implementation Requirements.

Second, "in implementing this directive," i.e., the requirement to coordinate, the BLM must do four things:

- 1. "to the extent [the Secretary] finds practical, keep apprised of State, local, and tribal land use plans;"
- 2. "assure that consideration is given to those State, local, and tribal plans that are germane in the development of land use plans for public lands;"
- 3. "assist in resolving, to the extent practical, inconsistencies between Federal and non-Federal Government plans, and"
- 4. "provide for meaningful public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands, including early public notice of proposed decisions which may have a significant impact on non-Federal lands."

43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (second sentence).

The first and third requirements are qualified by the phrase "to the extent [the Secretary] finds practical." The word "practical" has several meanings, but the one that makes sense in this context is "capable of being put to use or account: USEFUL." Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 912 (10th ed.). In most cases, it will be useful to the BLM to perform requirements 1 and 3 because each requirement must be satisfied to properly complete the coordination process. Moreover, the performance of each requirement is necessary for the BLM to fulfill its obligation to ensure that BLM land use plans are "consistent with State and local plans to the maximum extent he finds consistent with Federal law and the purposes of this Act," which appears in the final sentence of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

Requirement 2—giving consideration to State, local, and tribal plans that are germane in the development of land use plans for public lands—logically follows from the basic obligation to coordinate as well as the consistency requirement in the final sentence of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). Obviously, meaningful coordination requires that the BLM carefully consider State and local land use plans that pertain to public land uses or that may be impaired by a BLM land use plan containing conflicting resource use designations or implementation strategies. Consequently, this requirement is not subject to any limitation.

Additionally, Requirement 4—requiring that the BLM provide "meaningful public involvement" for State and local government officials "in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands"—is not qualified by the phrase "to the extent he finds practical." Requirement 4 also applies broadly to a range of BLM actions that affect the planning and management of public lands. Thus, State and local governments must be provided "meaningful public involvement . . . in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (second sentence). Again, this includes agency directives, policies, and guidance documents (e.g., Interior Department and BLM handbooks and manuals), which, as discussed above, also are subject to coordination. Coordination must take place before these documents are used in connection with land use planning and management, including the development of land use plans.

3. 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (third sentence)—Advice to the Secretary.

The next sentence of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) specifically authorizes "such officials," i.e., "State and local government officials, both elected and appointed," to advise the Interior Secretary (and BLM as the Secretary's delegated authority) on the "development and revision of land use plans, land use guidelines, land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands within such State." This sentence requires government-to-government coordination between State and local officials and the Secretary (or the BLM Director) on land use plans, guidelines, and regulations affecting the management and use of the public lands, thereby ensuring that the concerns and recommendations of State and local governments are recognized and addressed. This process allows the BLM to coordinate its own planning and management activities and maintain consistency with State and local governments to the greatest extent possible, including the BLM's development of rules, policies, and guidelines that apply when land use plans are developed and implemented.

4. 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (fourth sentence)—Consistency with State and Local Plans.

The fourth and concluding sentence of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) is extremely important. This sentence mandates that BLM land use plans "be consistent with State and local plans *to the maximum extent* [the Secretary] finds consistent with Federal law and the purposes of this Act" (emphasis added). This obligation is called the "consistency requirement" and is intended to ensure that BLM and local land use plans are consistent, unless a federal law or the purposes of FLPMA itself conflict with and, therefore, preempt the provision in the local land use plan.

The consistency requirement is related to and follows logically from the three previous sentences of this provision. As discussed, the BLM must coordinate its land use inventory, planning, and management activities with State and local governments and consider "the policies of approved State and tribal land resource management programs" (first sentence); keep apprised of State and local land use plans, assure that these plans are considered in the development of land use plans for public lands, and affirmatively assist in resolving inconsistencies between "Federal and non-Federal Government plans" to the extent practical (second sentence); and receive advice from State and local governments on "the development and revision of land use plans."

Based on this coordination, the BLM must identify and consider potential conflicts with State and local government planning documents, and ensure that these conflicts are avoided or resolved during the planning process to the maximum extent practical. This means that coordination should begin early in the land planning process so that potential conflicts and inconsistencies can be immediately identified and taken into account as the land use plan is developed. This ensures that consistency with State and local planning is maintained or, at worst, conflicts are minimized through coordination.

Boiled down, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) imposes a number of specific requirements on the Secretary (i.e., the BLM) to ensure that State and local governments, as well as Indian tribes, play an important role in the planning and management of the public lands. Unfortunately, these requirements have been eliminated or marginalized in the Proposed Rules. The discussion that follows identifies portions of the Proposed Rules that conflict with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) and, if adopted, would be unlawful.

B. § 1610.3–1 Coordination of Planning Efforts.

1. § 1610.3–1(a) Objectives of Coordination.

This proposed rule improperly narrows the scope of coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) by requiring coordination "to the extent consistent with Federal laws *and regulations applicable to public lands, and the purposes, policies and programs of such laws and regulations.*" 43 C.F.R. § 1610.3–1 (proposed) (emphasis added). As explained above, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) states that coordination is required "to the extent consistent with the laws governing the administration of the public lands." It does not refer to "regulations," or to the "purposes, policies and programs of such laws." Instead, regulations, policies and programs are themselves subject to coordination to the extent they affect the planning and management of the

public lands. Consequently, the phrase "and regulations applicable to public lands, and the purposes, policies and programs of such laws and regulations" conflicts with FLPMA and must be removed. The statutory language "to the extent consistent with the laws governing the administration of the public lands" should be used instead to comply with FLPMA.

Proposed § 1610.3–1 also identifies five "objectives" of coordination. These should not be identified as "objectives" and should instead be identified as <u>requirements</u> of coordination to comply with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), as discussed above.

2. § 1610.3–1(b) Cooperating Agencies.

The next subsection of proposed §1610.3-1 is called "cooperating agencies" and addresses the participation of cooperating agencies in the NEPA process associated with adopting the land use plan. As a preliminary matter, the 2.0 Coalition supports the general policy reflected in this section (as well as in current §1610.3-1(b) and in the Interior Secretary's NEPA rules) to invite eligible governmental entities, including local governments, to participate in the NEPA process as cooperating agencies. Our concerns with this section relate to the improper substitution of cooperating agency status for government-to-government coordination in accordance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

Under NEPA, cooperating agencies work under the direction of the lead agency—here, the BLM—to satisfy the procedural requirements imposed by NEPA. *See*, *e.g.*, 40 C.F.R. § 1501.6(b) (describing the duties of cooperating agencies); James Connaughton, Council on Environmental Quality, Memorandum for the Heads of Federal Agencies: Cooperating Agencies in Implementing the Procedural Requirements of the National Environmental Policy Act (Jan. 30, 2002) (Connaughton Memorandum) (discussing factors to consider in determining whether State or local governments are capable of participating in the NEPA process as cooperating agencies and the circumstances under which they may be terminated).⁶ The Connaughton Memorandum cautions that "cooperating agency status under NEPA is not equivalent to other requirements calling for an agency to engage in other governmental entity in a consultation or *coordination* process" *Id.* at p. 1, n. 1(emphasis added).

The Connaughton Memorandum also contains a list of factors to be used in determining whether to invite, decline or end cooperating agency status. These factors include:

- Does the cooperating agency understand what cooperating agency status means and can it legally enter into an agreement to be a cooperating agency?
- Can the cooperating agency participate during scoping and/or throughout the preparation of the analysis and documentation as necessary and meet milestones established for completing the process?

⁶ Available at <u>http://energy.gov/sites/prod/files/nepapub/nepa_documents/RedDont/G-CEQ-CoopAgenciesImplem.pdf</u> (visited April 5, 2016).

- Can the cooperating agency provide resources to support scheduling and critical milestones?
- Does the cooperating agency provide adequate lead-time for review and do the other agencies provide adequate time for review of documents, issues and analyses?
- Can the cooperating agency(s) accept the lead agency's final decisionmaking authority regarding the scope of the analysis, including authority to define the purpose and need for the proposed action? For example, is an agency unable or unwilling to develop information/analysis of alternatives they favor and disfavor?

Thus, it is apparent that the role and duties of a cooperating agency differ significantly from, and cannot be used as substitute for, the requirements for coordination (and plan consistency) imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

The Interior Secretary has adopted regulations, codified at 43 C.F.R. part 46, to implement NEPA's procedural requirements as well as the Council on Environmental Quality's NEPA regulations. The Secretary's regulations also address the selection of cooperating agencies and their role in the NEPA process, and are generally consistent with Chairman Connaughton's Memorandum. *See* 43 C.F.R. §§ 46.225, 46.230. Among other things, these regulations require that the BLM "work with cooperating agencies to develop and adopt a memorandum of understanding that includes the respective roles, assignment of issues, schedules, and staff commitments so that the NEPA process remains on track and within the time schedule." 43 C.F.R. § 46.225(d).

Moreover, in the case of State and local governments, the memorandum of understanding "must include a commitment to maintain the confidentiality of documents and deliberations" prior to the release of any NEPA document. *Id.* This requirement is problematic. Many local governments cannot effectively coordinate with the BLM if their discussions and any documents exchanged are subject to a strict confidentiality requirement. Elected officials involved in coordination meetings (e.g., county commissioners and supervisors) are required by open meeting laws and similar requirements to coordinate in an open and transparent fashion, including conducting meetings that are open to the public. Furthermore, most States and local governments are subject to public records acts which require disclosure of documents.

The Secretary's regulations also provide that "throughout the development of an environmental document" the BLM will "collaborate, to the fullest extent possible, with all cooperating agencies concerning those issues relating to their jurisdiction and special expertise." 43 C.F.R. § 46.230. Section 46.230 goes on to identify activities that, with the BLM's agreement, cooperating may "help to do." *Id.* These activities are intended to assist the BLM in fulfilling its procedural obligations under NEPA, rather than coordinating on a government-to-government basis on BLM land use inventory, planning, and management activities.

Finally, the BLM's attempt to substitute cooperating agency status for meaningful coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) places an unfair burden on local governments. Some local governments may be unable to fulfill the obligations of a cooperating agency and

decline to become a cooperating agency. In that case, the BLM would be excused from coordinating, which would violate FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). FLPMA does not require State and local governments to become a cooperating agency before the Secretary's obligations to coordinate are triggered.

For these reasons, it would be improper to combine coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) with the NEPA process. Certainly, local governments that elect to participate in the NEPA process as cooperating agencies should be invited to do so in accordance with Council on Environmental Quality's guidance and the Interior Secretary's regulations. But participation in the NEPA process as a cooperating agency is not a substitute for government-to-government coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). Regardless of whether a State or local government participates in the NEPA process as a cooperating agency, the BLM must independently satisfy its obligation to coordinate with that unit of government under FLPMA.

Therefore, proposed § 1610.3-1(b) should be eliminated from proposed § 1610.3 and be renumbered and identified as a separate rule. This will ensure that there is no confusion concerning the BLM's obligation to coordinate with State and local governments land use on the BLM's inventory, planning, and management activities, regardless of whether they elect to participate in the NEPA process as a cooperating agency.

3. § 1610.3-1(c) Coordination Requirements.

Subsection (c) of proposed § 1610.3-1, entitled "coordination requirements," is also unlawful. This subsection begins with the general statement that the "BLM will provide Federal agencies, State and lower governments, and Indian tribes opportunity for review, advise, and suggestions on issues and topics which may affect or influence other agency or other government programs." However, the specific requirements imposed in the balance of this subsection are woefully inadequate and conflict with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

As discussed above, the BLM is required to coordinate its "land use inventory, planning, and management activities" pertaining to the public lands "with the land use and planning programs" of local governments. 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9). Among other things, this statutory directive requires the BLM to "assure that consideration is given" to relevant local government plans and programs, to attempt to resolve conflicts and inconsistencies between BLM land use plans and local government land use plans, and to provide local governments with meaningful involvement "in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands." *Id.* In addition, the BLM must provide a vehicle by which local government officials may furnish advice "with respect to the development and revision of land use plans, land use guidelines, land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands."

None of these requirements are addressed in subsection (c). Instead, local governments would be "notified" of the BLM's intention to adopt or amend a land use plan and provided an opportunity to submit comments within the same time periods specified in proposed § 1610.2 for the general public. Thus, the "opportunity for review, advice, and suggestions on issues and topics which may affect or influence other agency or other government programs" is merely the opportunity to comment like members of the public, notwithstanding the plain language of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

In short, proposed § 1610.3-1, although entitled "coordination of planning efforts," largely ignores the coordination and consistency requirements imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). As proposed, this rule gives lip service to the objectives of coordination in subsection (a), while eliminating meaningful coordination in the remainder of the rule. Nor is coordination addressed in other portions of the Proposed Rules. These changes show that the BLM's assertions that State and local governments would be given more opportunities to coordinate are nonsense. The agency's goal is, instead, to avoid its coordination obligations in violation of FLPMA.

C. § 1610.3–2 Consistency Requirements.

Proposed § 1610.3–2, entitled "consistency requirements," suffers from the same basic flaw as proposed § 1610.3–1 and would significantly narrow the scope of consistency review. *Compare* 43 C.F.R. § 1610.3–2 (current version).

The proposed rule begins by stating:

(a) Resource management plans will be consistent with officially approved or adopted land use plans of other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes to the maximum extent the BLM finds practical and consistent with the purposes of FLPMA and other Federal law *and regulations applicable to public lands, and the purposes, policies and programs of such laws and regulations.*

43 C.F.R. § 1610.3–2(a) (proposed) (emphasis added). FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), by contrast, states that BLM land use plans "shall be consistent with State and local plans to the maximum extent he finds consistent with Federal law and the purposes of this Act." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (final sentence; emphasis added). This statutory language is significantly narrower than the proposed rule, and does <u>not</u> include agency regulations, the purposes of other federal laws, or the policies or programs of such laws and regulations. The apparent goal, once again, is to marginalize the requirement that BLM land use plans be consistent with State and local land use plans to the maximum extent permitted under FLPMA and other federal laws governing the administration of the public lands. Therefore, subsection (a) of the proposed rule should be revised to be consistent with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

Subsection (a)(1) of proposed § 1610.3–2, which states that the BLM will "to the extent practical" keep apprised of State, local government, and tribal land use plans and "give consideration to those plans that are germane in the development of resource management plans," generally follows requirements 1 and 2 in the second sentence of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). Subsections (a)(2) and (a)(3), however, conflict with the plain language and purposes of FLPMA.

Contrary to the written notice requirement in subsection (a)(2), the BLM should be aware of potential inconsistencies if the agency complies with the requirements of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). As explained above, the BLM must "coordinate the land use inventory, planning, and management activities of or for such lands with the land use planning and management programs of . . . the States and local governments within which the lands are located." 43 U.S.C.

1712(c)(9) (first sentence). Furthermore, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) requires the BLM to "keep apprised of State, local, and tribal land use plans." *Id.* (second sentence). Thus, coordination with State and local governments is an ongoing process. It includes, for example, the BLM's inventory of the planning area and the development of policies and guidelines that will be used in developing land use plans.

In other words, the BLM should be coordinating with State and local governments, as well as Indian tribes, <u>at the beginning of the planning process</u> so that the BLM is aware of the land use plans and programs of State and local governments and can take them into account <u>before</u> developing a land use plan, including formulating the purpose of statement and need, considering different land management strategies, and developing a reasonable range of alternatives. The BLM's current regulations contain requirements to ensure that this takes place.

For example, under current § 1610.4–4, the Field Manager (i.e., the Responsible Official) must conduct an analysis of the management situation (AMS). This planning step involves an analysis of "the inventory data and other information available to determine the ability of the resource area to respond to identified issues and opportunities." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.4–4. The AMS provides, "consistent with multiple use principles, the basis for formulating reasonable alternatives, including the types of resources for development or protection." *Id.* Notably, factors considered in preparing the AMS include: "Specific requirements and constraints to achieve consistency with policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local government agencies and Indian tribes."

Similarly, under current § 1610.3–1(d), State Directors (i.e., the Deciding Officials), in developing guidance to Field Managers (i.e., the Responsible Officials) for the development of land use plans, must:

(1) Ensure that [guidance to Responsible Officials] is as consistent as possible with existing officially adopted and approved resource related plans, policies or programs of other Federal agencies, State agencies, Indian tribes and local governments that may be affected,"

(2) Identify areas where the proposed guidance is inconsistent with such policies, plans or programs and provide reasons why the inconsistencies exist and cannot be remedied; and

(3) Notify the other Federal agencies, State agencies, Indian tribes or local governments with whom consistency is not achieved and indicate any appropriate methods, procedures, actions and/or programs which the State Director believes may lead to resolution of such inconsistencies.

43 C.F.R. § 1610.3-1(d)(1)-(3) (current). These requirements relate to current § 1610.1(a), which provides that Deciding Officials develop guidance for land use plan development "with necessary and appropriate governmental coordination as prescribed by § 1610.3 of this title." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1(a)(3).

Under the Proposed Rules, by contrast, no coordination will occur during the early stages of the planning process, and with respect to the balance of the process, States and local

governments are improperly treated as members of the public and are merely given an opportunity to submit comments. No opportunity for meaningful coordination is provided. This in turn means that the BLM will not consider whether Secretarial and agency policies and directives that are relevant to land use plan development are inconsistent with the land use plans and programs of State and local governments. Consequently, the BLM will not attempt to address these inconsistencies in developing the land use plan. It also means that the land use plans, policies, and programs of local governments will not be considered in subsequent planning steps.

Instead, the BLM is attempting to satisfy its consistency review obligations through the Governor's office, improperly bypassing local governments. Proposed § 1610.3–2(b), entitled "Governor's consistency review," provides that the Deciding Official "will submit to the Governor of the State(s) involved, the proposed resource management plan or plan amendment and will identify *any relevant known inconsistencies with the officially approved and adopted land use plans of State <u>and local governments</u>" (emphasis added). Under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), coordination must take place with local governments, and consistency review concerns those governments' officially approved land use plans, policies, programs. The State's Governor is not authorized to act for counties and other units of local government, which act through their own duly elected officials, and the Governor may have little or no knowledge of the land use plans, policies, and programs of local governments as he does not administer those programs.*

In short, this is yet another example of the BLM's unlawful attempt to eliminate its obligations under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) and marginalize the role of local governments in the public land planning and management process. Coordination and consistency review must involve local governments, and cannot be shifted by rule to the Governor or another unit of State government.

D. § 1601.0–5 Definitions.

The BLM has proposed significant definitional changes that would eliminate the definition of "consistency" and change the definition of "officially approved and adopted resource-related (land-use) plans." As explained below, these changes are inappropriate.

"Officially approved and adopted resource related plans" is currently defined as: "plans, policies, programs and processes prepared and approved pursuant to and in accordance with authorization provided by Federal, State or local constitutions, legislation or charters which have the force and effect of State law." 43 C.F.R. § 1601.05(j) (current). This definition is being changed to: "land use plans prepared and approved by other Federal agencies, State and local governments and Indian tribes pursuant to and in accordance with authorization provided by Federal, State or local constitutions, legislation, or charters which have the force and effect of State law." 43 C.F.R. § 1601.05 (proposed). Thus, the words "policies, programs, and processes" would be removed from the definition.

According to the BLM, the "existing definition is inconsistent with § 1610.3–2, which distinguishes between 'officially approved or adopted resource related plans' in existing

1610.3–2(a) and 'officially approved or adopted resource related policies and programs' in existing § 1610.3–2(b), rather than combining them, such as in the existing definition." 81 Fed. Reg. 9686. The BLM also asserts that this change is consistent with Section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA. *Id.* Neither assertion is correct, however.

The current language in §§ 1610.3–2(a) and 1610.3–2(b) is different for a reason. The former rule provides that BLM "[g]uidance and resource management plans and amendments to management framework plans shall be consistent with officially approved or adopted resource related plans, and the policies and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, State and local governments and Indian tribes" 43 C.F.R. § 1610.3–2(a) (current). The latter rule provides that "*[i]n the absence of* officially approved or adopted resource-related plans of other Federal agencies, State and local governments and Indian tribes, [BLM] guidance and resource management plans shall, to the maximum extent practical, be consistent with officially approved and adopted resource related policies and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local governments and Indian tribes." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.3–2(b) (current) (emphasis added). In other words, § 1610.3–2(a) applies when there is an officially approved or adopted land use plan, while § 1610.3–2(b) applies in the absence of such a plan.

Thus, the current definition of "officially approved and adopted resource related plans" properly refers to "plans, policies, programs and processes," and is not limited to "plans." This is necessary to ensure that the coordination and consistency requirements of Section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA are satisfied. The BLM is not free to ignore policies and programs adopted by a State or local government, or by another federal agency or Indian tribe, simply because they are not labeled "land use plan." This would elevate form over substance: BLM land use plans should be consistent with officially approved and adopted policies and programs of State and local governments, as well as land use plans. Moreover, the change also ignores the broad language employed by Congress in Section 202(c)(9), which refers to coordination on "land use planning and management programs of other Federal departments and agencies and of the States and local governments" in its first sentence.

The BLM also would eliminate the definition of "consistent." Currently, "consistent" is defined at § 1601.05(c) as: "*Consistent* means that the Bureau of Land Management plans will adhere to the terms, conditions, and decisions of officially approved and adopted resource related plans, or in their absence, *with policies and programs*, subject to the qualifications in section 1615.2 of this title" (second emphasis added). Thus, the current definition of "consistent" dovetails with the definition of "officially approved and adopted resource related plans." The BLM's rationale for eliminating the definition of "consistent" is that the "definition is unnecessary as this is commonly used terminology." 81 Fed. Reg. 9685. In reality, however, this definition is being removed because it refers to "policies and programs."

Boiled down, by changing the definition of "officially approved and adopted resource related plans" and eliminating the definition of "consistency," the BLM would eliminate its existing obligation to consider in their planning process the "policies, programs and processes" of local governments and the requirement to adhere to the terms, conditions, and decisions of local plans, or their policies and programs. Local governments frequently rely on policy resolutions, ordinances, and similar decision documents that are adopted and approved as a part of their governing process. Consequently, while a formal "plan" may not exist, there may be officially adopted policies and programs that apply to public lands within their jurisdiction. Under the Proposed Rules, the BLM would be free to ignore these duly adopted land use policies and programs, which would violate the purpose of Section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

In short, these proposed definitional changes indicate either that the BLM does not understand how local governments function, or that the agency is attempting to diminish its accountability during the coordination and consistency review process. Regardless, the current definitions should be retained to ensure that the purpose of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) is properly effectuated.

E. Coordination and Consistency Review on Implementation Strategies.

One of the most significant changes in the Proposed Rules is the removal of "implementation strategies" from the land use plan. As explained in the Proposed Rules, the BLM "would distinguish between the planning-level management direction that guides all future management decisions (plan components) and the information that may be included with a resource management plan that describes how the BLM intends to implement future actions consistent with the planning-level management direction (implementation strategies)." 81 Fed Reg. 9682. The former—"plan components"—would be included in the land use plan and be subject to coordination and consistency review (as well as NEPA). The "implementation strategies," by contrast, may be mentioned in the land use plan but would not be part of the plan and could be changed at any time without a plan amendment or any coordination with State and local governments. *See* 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1–3(c) (proposed).

Given that "implementation strategies" include "management measures," it would be unlawful to exempt them from coordination and consistency review. "Management measures" consist of "potential action(s) the BLM may take in order to achieve the goals and objectives of the resource management plan." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1–3(a) (proposed). They are broadly defined as including "resource management practices, best management practices, standard operating procedures, provision for the preparation of more detailed and specific plans, or other measures as appropriate." *Id.* Therefore, "implementation strategies" are critical to the management of the public lands.

As explained above, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) requires the BLM to "coordinate the land use inventory, planning, and <u>management activities</u> of or for such lands" with the "land use planning and management programs of . . . the States and local governments within which the lands are located." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9) (emphasis added). Clearly, "management measures" fall squarely within the scope of this requirement. The BLM also is required to "provide for meaningful public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands." *Id.* This requirement applies to a broad range of BLM actions that affect the planning and management of public lands, including the implementation of particular management measures for particular land uses. In addition, State and local government officials "are authorized to furnish advice to the Secretary with respect to the development and revision of land use plans, land use guidelines, land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands within such State." *Id.* "Management measures" fall within this requirement to the extent that they establish requirements for future land uses on public lands.

Given this plain language, "implementation strategies" that affect land uses under the BLM's plan are subject to coordination and consistency review under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). These requirements also apply to any updates or revisions. Coordination must take place before these implementation strategies may be used in connection with any land use management activities, and a consistency review must be conducted in the event of any potential conflicts with State and local government plans and programs. The separation of the "management measures" from the "resource management plan" they implement does not eliminate FLPMA's requirements. Once more, the BLM is attempting to unlawfully avoid its coordination and consistency obligations under FLPMA.

F. Additional Changes Needed to Comply with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

As the foregoing discussion indicates, the coordination and consistency requirements imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) would be significantly weakened under the Proposed Rules. The opportunities for coordination will be reduced, local governments will be reduced to commenting like members of public, and inconsistencies between land use plans and related planning guidance documents will be ignored until late in the planning process, if they are addressed at all. In short, as written, the Proposed Rules would violate FLPMA.

Consequently, a number of changes to the Proposed Rules are needed to comply with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), in addition to those discussed above. This section will identify specific provisions and provide language that can used to ensure compliance with FLPMA.

1. Early Coordination with Affected State and Local Governments.

a. Early Identification of State and Local Land Use Plans and Programs, and Potential Conflicts.

As discussed above, coordination should occur at the beginning of the planning process to ensure early identification of State and local land use plans and programs and the potential for conflicts that may require consistency review. Conflicts between BLM and State and local government plans and programs can be avoided or minimized if these plans and programs are identified and considered at the beginning of the process. This is simply a matter of common sense, and is supported by the requirements imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), discussed above. This should occur after the selection of the Deciding Official (who would be responsible for coordinating and ensuring consistency) and in conjunction with the determination of the planning area, which may result in inconsistencies, particularly if the proposed planning area does not track existing resource area boundaries or includes a significant amount of additional public land (e.g., a cross-state planning area). Before determining the appropriate planning area, coordination with affected State and local governments should occur. This obvious requirement has been ignored in the Proposed Rules.

b. Coordination on Inventory and Related Information.

Early coordination should occur on the BLM's inventory to ensure its accuracy and consistency with State and local government planning information. Under FLPMA Section 201(a), the BLM is required to "prepare and maintain on a continuing basis an inventory of all public lands and their resource and other values . . . This inventory shall be kept current so as

to reflect changes in conditions and to identify new and emerging resource and other values." 43 U.S.C. § 1711(a). Notably, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) specifically mandates coordination on the inventory maintained by the BLM. This is an important step because the inventory provides the underpinning for the development and amendment of land use plans under FLPMA Section 202.

For example, the preamble to the Proposed Rules explains that the BLM has developed "Rapid Ecoregional Assessments" (REAs) in the western United States. 81 Fed. Reg. 9680. As the BLM states, REAs are developed at a "landscape-scale" and cover "eco-regions" and other vast areas. Moreover, as their title indicates, REAs are by design prepared "rapidly," with little or no ground-truthing, by agglomerations of public and private entities—some of which have their own agendas for the management of the public lands.⁷ Consequently, the use of REAs in the land planning process raises serious questions, such as whether REAs comply with FLPMA's express direction that <u>the Secretary</u> "prepare and maintain on a continuing basis an inventory of all public lands and their resource and other values."

In any case, if REAs and similar "landscape-scale" studies, reports, and documents are used as a basis for land use planning, coordination with State local governments is clearly necessary. State and local governments, particularly rural counties and districts whose citizens and economies depend on the use of public lands, may have superior information on local resource conditions and values and, in addition, can effectively critique more general, "landscape-scale" reports and information, which are likely to contain errors or produce distortions when applied on a local scale. Presumably, this is why Congress has required coordination on the BLM's inventory in FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). Under the Proposed Rules, however, there is no opportunity for coordination with State and local governments on the inventory in advance of land use plan development. This is a serious oversight that should be corrected.

c. Coordination on Secretarial and BLM Policies and Direction.

Early coordination is needed on agency policies, guidance, and similar direction that will be used in developing land use plans to avoid serious problems. As discussed above, the BLM's existing regulations require, in accordance with FLPMA, that land use plan guidance be "as consistent as possible with existing officially adopted and approved resource related plans, policies or programs of other Federal agencies, State agencies, Indian tribes and local governments that may be affected." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.3–1(d)(1). Under the current regulations, the BLM is also required to identify "areas where the proposed guidance is inconsistent with such policies, plans or programs," explain why such inconsistencies exist, "and indicate any

⁷ According to the preamble, "Landscape Conservation Cooperatives" are a network of 22 public-private partnerships launched under Secretarial Order 3289 to improve the integration of science and management to address climate change and other landscape-scale issues." 81 Fed. Reg. 9681. To our knowledge, these entities, to which the Interior Secretary has delegated her inventory responsibilities under FLPMA Section 201(a), have not engaged in coordination with State and local governments in accordance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

appropriate methods, procedures, actions and/or programs" that may resolve such inconsistencies. *Id.* at § 1610.3-1(d)(2)-(3).

Under the Proposed Rules, however, these requirements would be eliminated. This is particularly problematic because the Proposed Rules and the preamble discussion indicates that a plethora of recent policies, guidance, and direction will be used to develop land use plans. See, e.g., 43 C.F.R. §§ 1601.4(a), 1601.1-1 (proposed); 81 Fed. Reg. 9678-79 (discussing "related executive and secretarial direction" and the "Planning 2.0 initiative"). It is apparent from the Proposed Rules that land use planning and management will be driven to a great extent by these policies and directives. These include, for example, "Secretarial Order 3289-Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change on America's Water, Land, and Other Natural and Cultural Resources" (issued Sept. 14, 2009; amended Feb. 22, 2010), the Interior Department Manual chapter on climate change policy (issued Dec. 20, 2012) (523 DM 1), and "The Department of the Interior Climate Change Adaptation Plan for 2014" (Climate Change Adaptation Plan), which provides guidance for implementing 523 DM 1. According to the preamble, the latter document "directs the DOI bureaus and agencies to strengthen existing landscape-level planning efforts; use well-defined and established approaches for managing through uncertainty, such as adaptive management; and maintain key ecosystem services, among other important directives." 81 Fed. Reg. 9679.

The preamble identifies other policies and guidance documents that affect land use planning and management, such "Secretarial Order 3330—Improving Mitigation Policies and Practices of the Department of the Interior" (issued Oct. 31, 2013), which ordered the development of an Interior Department-wide mitigation strategy, a report called "A Strategy for Improving the Mitigation Policies and Practices of The Department of the Interior" (April 2014), and the Interior Department Manual chapter on departmental mitigation policies and requirements (revised Oct. 2015) (600 DM 6).

According to the preamble, the Proposed Rules are being adopted in order to comply with these new policies and guidance documents and to facilitate their use in planning and management of the public lands. For example, the BLM states:

Collectively, these directives identify the importance of science-based decisionmaking; landscape-scale management approaches; adaptive management techniques to manage for uncertainty; and active coordination and collaboration with partners and stakeholders. *The BLM believes that changes to the resource management planning process will assist in effectively implementing these directives*.

81 Fed. Reg. 9679 (emphasis added). And under proposed § 1610.4(a)(2), these documents will be identified as part of the planning assessment and used to develop the land use plan.

The Interior Secretary, BLM Director, and other senior officials are authorized to issue policies and direction to the BLM concerning the planning for and management of the public

lands.⁸ However, in doing so they are subject to the coordination and consistency requirements of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). As discussed above, Secretarial and agency regulations, directives, policies, and guidance documents, such as the policies and directives discussed in the preamble to the Proposed Rules, are themselves subject to the requirements of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) to the extent such documents provide substantive direction for public land planning and management. Under these circumstances, early coordination should occur in connection with these policies and directives to minimize conflicts with State and local government land use planning and management programs, and to ensure that the development of the land use plan is not undermined because the plan relies on policies and direction that violate FLPMA's coordination and consistency requirements.⁹

To address this problem, subsection (a)(1) of proposed § 1610.1-1(a) should be revised to add a new subsection (a)(3), as follows:

(3) Guidance provided by the Secretary, Director and deciding official is subject to section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA, including coordination with affected Federal agencies, State agencies, local governments, and Indian tribes. Such guidance will be as consistent as possible with officially approved and adopted land use plans, and the policies, and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, State agencies, local governments, and Indian tribes that may be affected. The Deciding Officer will identify areas where the guidance may be inconsistent with such plans, policies, and programs, notify the other Federal agencies, State agencies, local governments, and Indian tribes with whom consistency is not achieved, and indicate any appropriate methods, procedures, actions and/or programs by which such inconsistencies may be resolved.

This provision's language is modeled after current 43 C.F.R. §§ 1610.3–1(d) and 1610.3–2(d). It will ensure that policy and other direction established through Secretarial, Director, or Deciding Official approved documents comply with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) at the beginning of the plan development process, avoiding later disputes, delays, and possible plan invalidity.

2. Coordination With State and Local Governments on Key Planning Steps.

Once the land use plan development process begins, government-to-government coordination should continue in order to satisfy FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) and to ensure plan

⁸ A number of these policies and directives appear to constitute rules that were adopted without observance of the rulemaking procedures required by Administrative Procedures Act. Under that Act, a "rule" is defined as "the whole or a part of an agency statement of general or particular applicability and future effect designed to implement, interpret, or prescribe law or policy" 5 U.S.C. § 551(4). In such case, these policies and directives are unlawful.

 $^{^{9}}$ To the 2.0 Coalition's knowledge, in issuing these policies and directives the coordination requirements imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) have been ignored, which also raises serious questions about whether these documents can be considered in connection with developing land use plans and subsequent implementation strategies.

consistency to the maximum extent practical. Ideally, coordination should be an ongoing process, under which the authorized officials of affected States and local governments, as well other Federal agencies and Indian tribes, regularly communicate as the land use plan is developed. As discussed previously, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) provides that the BLM "shall provide for meaningful public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands," and further that State and local government officials "are authorized to furnish advice to the Secretary with respect to the development and revision of land use plans, land use guidelines, land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands within such State." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9). As explained above, the Proposed Rules ignore these requirements.

To ensure that there is no confusion, the 2.0 Coalition believes that the coordination and consistency requirements imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) should be specifically recognized and addressed throughout the planning process. The changes provided below take the approach of incorporating the coordination and consistency requirements into the Proposed Rules where appropriate.

a. Proposed § 1610.1-2 Plan Components.

This section should be revised to add at its conclusion the following new subsection:

(d) The BLM will, to the extent consistent with the laws governing the administration of the public lands, coordinate the plan components, including any amendment or revision, with the land use planning and management programs of the States, local governments, and Indian tribes which may be affected by the resource management plan and will further ensure that the plan components will be as consistent as possible with officially approved and adopted land use plans, and the policies, and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, State agencies, local governments, and Indian tribes in accordance with section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

The reasons for adding this provision are largely self-explanatory. It simply ensures that as land use plans are developed, the BLM will engage in coordination with affected States, local governments and Indian tribes, including coordination on important plan components such as (1) standards to mitigate undesirable effects to resource conditions; (2) consideration of resource, environmental, ecological, social, and economic factors; (3) planning designations; and (4) resource use determinations, with the goal of ensuring meaningful government-togovernment communication on plan development issues and consistency with State and local land use plans.

b. Proposed § 1610.1–3 Implementation Strategies.

This section should be revised to add at its conclusion the following new subsection:

(d) The BLM will, to the extent consistent with the laws governing the administration of the public lands, coordinate the development and revision of implementation strategies, including, but not limited to, resource management

practices, best management practices, and standard operating procedures, with the land use planning and management programs of other Federal agencies and States, local governments, and Indian tribes which may be affected thereby and will further ensure that the implementation strategy will be as consistent as possible with officially approved and adopted land use plans, and the policies, and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, State agencies, local governments, and Indian tribes in accordance with section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

Again, the rationale for adding this provision is largely self-explanatory. It will ensure that State and local governments are able to provide meaningful input on the development of strategies that govern land use plan implementation and ensure that the implementation of such strategies does not result in conflicts with State and local land use plans, thereby violating FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

c. Proposed § 1610.4 Planning Assessment.

To ensure compliance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), several changes should be made to this section. First a new subsection (a)(5) should be added, as follows:

(5) Identify the land use planning and management programs of the other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes within the planning area, including existing officially approved and adopted land use plans, policies, and programs of other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes that may be affected, and any specific requirements and constraints that should be considered to achieve consistency with the policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local government agencies, and Indian tribes.

In addition, subsection (d), entitled "planning assessment report," should be revised to state:

(d) Planning assessment report. The responsible official will document the planning assessment in a report made available for public review, which includes the identification and rationale for potential ACECs. To the extent practical, any non-sensitive geospatial information used in the planning assessment should be made available to the public on the BLM's Web site. The report will include a discussion of the land use planning and management programs of the other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes within the planning area, including any officially approved and adopted land use plans, policies, and programs, and the manner in which the responsible official intends to address the coordination and consistency requirements in section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA in developing the resource management plan.

These changes ensure that the requirements imposed by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) are identified and addressed in the planning assessment, including the identification of State, local, and tribal land use plans and programs, potential conflicts with such plans and programs, and requirements and constraints imposed by such plans. Language has been borrowed from current § 1610.4–4, which requires the BLM to identify "[s]pecific requirements and constraints to

achieve consistency with policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local government agencies and Indian tribes" in the AMS. This will ensure that as plan development progresses, the Deciding and Responsible Officials are aware of potential conflicts and inconsistencies, and are meaningfully coordinating with State and local governments on the land use plan in accordance with FLPMA. These changes also ensure broader public disclosure of any management constraints and potential conflicts that may limit or otherwise influence the BLM's land use plan.

d. Proposed § 1610.5–1 Identification of Planning Issues.

To ensure compliance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), subsection (b) of proposed § 1610.5–1 should be revised to add the following:

(b) The public, other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes will be given an opportunity to suggest concerns, needs, opportunities, conflicts or constraints related to resource management for consideration in the preparation of the resource management plan. The responsible official will analyze those suggestions and other available data and information, such as the planning assessment (see § 1610.4–1), and determine the planning issues to be addressed during the planning process. Planning issues may be modified during the planning process to incorporate new information. The identification of planning issues should be integrated with the scoping process required by regulations implementing the National Environmental Policy Act (40 C.F.R. 1501.7), and with the coordination and consistency review process required by section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

This revision addresses two different problems. First, it clarifies that the "opportunity to suggest concerns, needs, opportunities, conflicts or constraints related to resource management" is not a substitute for meaningful government-to-government coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). State and local governments, as well as affected Federal agencies and Indian tribes, certainly are free to submit comments like members of the public. As discussed previously, however, FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) requires far more than the ability to comment on a proposal concerning a BLM land use plan.

Second, the additional language ensures that the coordination and consistency requirements of Section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA are integrated into identification of planning issues and the NEPA scoping process. Thus, issues and concerns raised by State and local governments during coordination, including any constraints imposed by, and potential conflicts with, the policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes will be identified prior to the formulation of resource management alternatives and the preparation of the draft resource management plan.

e. Proposed § 1610.5–2 Formulation of Resource Management Alternatives.

Subsection (a)(1) of proposed § 1610.5–2 should be revised as follows:

(1) The alternatives developed will be informed by the Director and deciding official guidance (see § 1610.1(a)), the planning assessment (see § 1610.4), *and* the planning issues (see § 1610.5–1), *and coordination with other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes that may be affected by the resource management plan pursuant to section 202(c)(9) of <i>FLPMA*.

Again, this change is intended to ensure that, in developing alternatives, the BLM takes into consideration any issues and concerns raised during coordination under Section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA, including any constraints imposed by, and potential conflicts with, the policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes. Obviously, it makes little sense to develop alternatives that conflict with State and local land use plans and policies, and cannot be adopted.

In addition, a new subpart should be added to subsection (b) of proposed § 1610.5–2:

(4) A description of the land use planning and management programs of the other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes within the planning area, including any officially approved and adopted land use plans, policies, and programs, and the manner in which the responsible official intends to resolve these inconsistencies in accordance with section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

The addition of this subpart ensures that management constraints and potential conflicts are considered by the Responsible Official in connection with formulating reasonable resource management alternatives, and if any inconsistencies exist, how those inconsistencies will be avoided or minimized prior to final land use plan approval. This subpart also ensures broader public disclosure of any management constraints and potential conflicts that may limit or otherwise affect the BLM's land use plan.

f. Proposed § 1610.5–4 Preparation of the Draft Resource Management Plan and Selection of Preferred Alternatives.

Subsection (a) of proposed § 1610.5–4 should be revised to state:

(a) The responsible official will prepare a draft resource management plan based on Director and deciding official guidance, the planning assessment, the planning issues, *and* the estimation of the effects of alternatives, *and coordination with affected Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes.* The draft resource management plan and draft environmental impact statement will evaluate the alternatives, identify one or more preferred alternatives, *and* explain the rationale for the preference, *and identify any inconsistencies between the preferred alternative(s) and any officially approved and adopted land use plans,* and the policies, and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes.

These revisions are largely self-explanatory. The first sentence has been revised to clarify that preparation of the draft resource management plan also will be informed by coordination with affected Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes in accordance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). The second sentence has been revised to ensure that any inconsistencies between the preferred alternative(s) and the land use plans, policies, and programs of Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes are identified and disclosed in the draft land management plan and draft environmental impact statement. Under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), these inconsistencies must be resolved to the maximum extent practical before the final land use plan can be adopted.

In addition, subsection (b) of proposed § 1610.5–4 should be revised as follows:

(b) The draft resource management plan and draft environmental impact statement will be provided *for comment* to the Governor(s) of the State(s) involved, and to officials of other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes with which the responsible official has been coordinating, as well as any other Federal agencies, State agencies, local governments, and Indian tribes the deciding official has reason to believe would be interested (see $\frac{1610.3 - 1(c)}{10.0 - 10}$). This action constitutes compliance with the requirements of $\frac{3420.1-7}{10}$ of this title. In the event that there are inconsistencies between the preferred alternative(s) and any officially approved and adopted land use plans, and the policies, and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes, the responsible official will coordinate as may be necessary to ensure that such inconsistencies are resolved to the maximum extent practical before the resource management plan is finalized and approved in accordance with section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

The foregoing revisions are needed for several reasons. First, the use of the phrase "for comment" erroneously suggests that the roles of States and local governments, as well as other Federal agencies and Indian tribes, are limited to commenting on the draft land use plan. As discussed above, coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) is a much broader concept, and includes, for example, "meaningful public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands," as well as furnishing "advice to the Secretary with respect to the development and revision of land use plans, land use guidelines, land use rules, and land use regulations for the public lands within such State." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(9).

Second, and for much same reason, the reference to § 1610.3–1(c) is inappropriate. As discussed above, this provision, entitled "coordination requirements," requires the Responsible Official to provide notice to local governments and allows them the same time period to review and comment on land use plans and plan amendments as members of the general public. Thus, this proposed rule effectively eliminates any meaningful coordination with local governments. Consequently, this provision, which violates FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), should not be referenced.

Third, a sentence has been added to confirm that to the extent that there are inconsistencies between the preferred alternative(s) and the land use plans, policies, and programs of other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes, those inconsistencies will be addressed and resolved to the maximum extent practical before the final land use plan is adopted, as required by FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

g. Proposed § 1610.6–1 Resource management plan approval and implementation.

The second sentence of subsection (b) of proposed § 1610.6–1 addresses the BLM's selection of an alternative that is generally encompassed by the range of alternatives in the final environmental impact statement or environmental assessment, but is substantially different than the proposed resource management plan or plan amendment. To ensure compliance with Section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA in this circumstances, the following sentence should be inserted at the conclusion of subsection (b) as shown below:

(b) Approval will be withheld on any portion of a resource management plan or plan amendment being protested (see § 1610.6-2) until final action has been completed on such protest. If, after publication of a proposed resource management plan or plan amendment, the BLM intends to select an alternative that is encompassed by the range of alternatives in the final environmental impact statement or environmental assessment, but is substantially different than the proposed resource management plan or plan amendment, the BLM will notify the public and request written comments on the change before the resource management plan or plan amendment is approved. In addition, the BLM will coordinate with affected Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes as may be required, and will ensure that any inconsistencies between the alternative selected and any officially approved and adopted land use plans, and the policies, and programs contained therein, of other Federal agencies, States, local governments, and Indian tribes, are resolved to the maximum extent practical before the resource management plan is approved in accordance with section 202(c)(9) of FLPMA.

This change is also self-explanatory. Obviously, if a new alternative, not previously considered in detail, is ultimately selected by the BLM, the BLM must comply with the coordination and consistency requirements of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) before the final land use plan may be approved.

II. The Proposed Rules Cannot Be Categorically Excluded from Analysis under NEPA.

The preamble to the Proposed Rules states that the BLM has determined that the rule is categorically excluded from further review because the rule is "entirely procedural in nature" and "does not involve any of the extraordinary circumstances listed in [the BLM's NEPA regulations at] 43 C.F.R. § 46.215." *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9724. The BLM has prepared a document entitled "Preliminary Categorical Exclusion Documentation 2016 Proposed Rules 43 C.F.R. Part 1600" to support its determination that the Proposed Rules is categorically excluded from NEPA review.

For the reasons explained below, the 2.0 Coalition believes that the BLM has erred in determining the Proposed Rules is categorically excluded from NEPA review. Facially, it is apparent that the manner in which the public lands are managed will have significant impacts that trigger the preparation of an Environmental Impact Statement (EIS). The BLM administers 247.3 million acres of land—more land in the United States than any other agency, of which 99 percent is located in 11 western States and Alaska. *See* Congressional Research Service, *Federal Land Ownership: Overview and Data* Table 2 (Dec. 29, 2014).¹⁰ The following table shows the staggering amount of land managed by the BLM in those States.

Alaska:	72.4 million acres (19.8% of total la	and in the state)
Arizona:	12.2 million acres (16.8%)	
California:	15.2 million acres (15.3%)	
Colorado:	8.4 million acres (12.5%)	
Idaho:	11.9 million acres (21.9%)	
Montana:	8.0 million acres (8.6%)	
Nevada:	47.8 million acres (68.0%)	
New Mexico:	13.5 million acres (17.3%)	
Oregon:	16.1 million acres (26.2%)	
Utah:	22.8 million acres (43.4%)	
Washington:	0.4 million acres (1%)	
Wyoming:	18.4 million acres (29.4%)	
Total 11 Western St	174.5 million acres	

Total 11 Western States plus Alaska:

246.9 million acres

Id. at Tables 1 and 2. Obviously, how the BLM manages these public lands has tremendous impacts on the western States and, in particular, rural areas and communities whose citizens depend on the use of public lands for livestock grazing, mineral exploration and production, timber production, outdoor recreation, and other purposes. The members of the 2.0 Coalition represent such rural areas and communities in the western States, and can attest to the significant impact that the BLM's land use planning and management programs have on their local economies and their citizens.

At a minimum, the BLM is required to prepare an environmental assessment (EA) to consider the potential environmental effects of the Proposed Rules on the human environment. The BLM's failure to comply with its obligations under NEPA will serve as a basis to vacate and remand any final rule for further analysis under NEPA. Accordingly, the 2.0 Coalition strongly urges the BLM to reconsider its decision to apply a categorical exclusion (CE) to the Proposed Rules and initiate the NEPA review process with a proper scoping of potential effects to be considered by the BLM

¹⁰ Available at <u>https://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R42346.pdf</u> (viewed April 13, 2016).

A. NEPA Background.

The purpose of NEPA is to promote informed decision-making by ensuring "that environmental information is available to public officials and citizens before decisions are made and before actions are taken." 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b). "Major federal actions" subject to review under NEPA include, among other things, "new or revised agency rules, regulations, plans, policies or procedures, and legislative proposals." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(a). The Council on Environmental Quality's (CEQ's) regulations define the "effects" that must be considered under NEPA to include ecological, aesthetic, historic, cultural, economic, social, and/or health effects, whether direct, indirect, or cumulative. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.8. "NEPA itself does not mandate particular results." *Dep't of Transp. v. Public Citizen*, 541 U.S. 752, 757 (2004). However, NEPA does impose "procedural requirements to ensure that the agency, in reaching its decision, will have available, and will carefully consider, detailed information concerning significant environmental impacts." *Winter v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc.*, 555 U.S. 7, 23 (2008).

A proposed federal agency action may be categorically excluded from analysis under NEPA in very limited circumstances. The CEQ's regulations allow federal agencies to adopt procedures to categorically exclude certain actions "which have been found to have no [significant] effect" on the human environment. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.4. By definition, these CEs are intended to be limited "to situations where there is an insignificant or minor effect on the environment." *Alaska Ctr. for the Env't v. U.S. Forest Service*, 189 F.3d 851, 859 (9th Cir. 1999).

Furthermore, even if a proposed action appears to fit the CE involved, an agency may not use a CE when "extraordinary circumstances" exist. *California v. Norton*, 311 F.3d 1162, 1168 (9th Cir. 2002) (citing 40 C.F.R. § 1508.4). "Extraordinary circumstances has been defined as those "in which a normally excluded action *may* have significant environmental effect." *Norton*, 311 F.3d at 1168 (emphasis added). The CEQ's and BLM's regulations enumerate several factors that must be considered by the BLM in determining whether extraordinary circumstance exist that preclude application of a CE to a particular agency decision. *See* 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b); 43 C.F.R § 46.215.

B. The BLM Should Not Have Applied a Categorical Exclusion to the Proposed Rules.

The BLM has relied upon the following CE to justify its decision not to conduct further NEPA analysis for the Proposed Rule:

Policies, directives, regulations, and guidelines that are of an administrative, financial, legal, technical, or procedural nature; or whose environmental effects are too broad, speculative, or conjectural to lend themselves to meaningful analysis and will later be subject to the NEPA process, either collectively or case-by-case.

Preliminary Categorical Exclusion, p. 2 (quoting 43 C.F.R. § 46.210(i)). The BLM has asserted that this CE is applicable because "the proposed modifications of [the Proposed Rule] are

entirely procedural" and future planning decisions will be subject to compliance with NEPA. *Id.*; *see also* 81 Fed. Reg. 9724. For the reasons explained below, the BLM's application of a CE to the Proposed Rules is both inconsistent with the BLM's prior practice for planning rules of this magnitude and a violation of its obligations under NEPA.

1. The BLM's Reliance on a CE Is a Significant Departure From Prior Agency Practice.

The BLM has engaged in three prior rulemakings relating to these rules. The BLM first adopted its planning rules in 1979. *See* Final Rulemaking: Public Lands and Resources; Planning, Programming, and Budgeting, 44 Fed. Reg. 46386 (Aug. 7, 1979). In 1983, the BLM promulgated major amendments to its planning regulations to enhance and clarify the planning process and eliminate unneeded provisions. *See* Final Rulemaking: Planning Programming, Budgeting; Amendments to the Planning Regulations; Elimination of Unneeded Provisions, 48 Fed. Reg. 20364 (May 5, 1983). In 2005, the BLM promulgated a more minor amendment to its planning rules regarding cooperating agencies and cooperating agency status. *See* Final Rule: Land Use Planning, 70 Fed. Reg. 14561 (March 23, 2005).

In the case of both the 1979 original rules and the 1983 major amendment, the BLM prepared an EA to evaluate the potential environmental effects of the rules. It was only with the minor amendment to the planning rules in 2005 that the BLM applied a CE to avoid NEPA analysis.

In deciding to apply a CE to the Proposed Rules, the BLM is clearly breaking with its prior practice to prepare at least an EA for major changes in its planning rules. The Proposed Rules represent the most dramatic overhaul of the BLM's land planning process since the BLM's original adoption of its planning rules in 1979. Given the significant changes in the land use planning process that will occur if the Proposed Rules are adopted, the BLM should have followed the approach taken for the 1979 and 1983 rules and prepared a programmatic EA to assess the potential environmental impacts of the Proposed Rules.

2. "Major Federal Actions" Include Programmatic Regulations for the Management of the Public Lands.

The BLM's assertion that major programmatic regulations that establish the process for future agency land use decisions may be exempted from NEPA review because they are "procedural in nature" is contrary to the requirements of NEPA. As noted above, CEQ's regulations specifically define "major federal actions" under NEPA to include "new or revised agency rules, *regulations*, plans, policies, or *procedures*." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(a) (emphasis added). The CEQ's regulations also state that federal actions subject to NEPA may include "formal documents establishing an agency's policies which will result in or substantially alter agency programs" and "plans . . . which guide or prescribe alternative uses of federal resources, upon which future agency actions will be based." *Id.* at § 1508.18(b)(1)-(2). Furthermore, the regulations provide that EISs "may be prepared, and are sometimes required, for broad federal actions such as the adoption of new agency programs or regulations." *Id.* at § 1502.4. The Proposed Rules, which substantially alter the process to be followed and the issues that will be

considered by the BLM in adopting and amending land use plans, clearly fall within the scope of the types of actions subject to review under NEPA.

The case of *Citizens for Better Forestry v. USDA*, 481 F. Supp. 2d 1059 (N.D. Cal. 2007) (*Citizens*), which involved facts very similar to this rulemaking, is instructive regarding the applicability of NEPA to programmatic planning rules like the Proposed Rules. In that case, notwithstanding the Department of Agriculture's (USDA's) completion of an EA for earlier versions of its National Forest System planning rules, the USDA applied a CE to the 2005 amendments to the planning rules. *Id.* at 1068. Like the CE the BLM relies on here, the CE at issue in the *Citizens* case excluded "rules, regulations, and policies to establish Service-wide, administrative procedures, program processes, or instruction." *Id.* (quoting 70 Fed. Reg. 1023, 1053-54). The USDA also found that "no extraordinary circumstances exist[ed] that would require preparation of an EA or EIS." *Id.*

Also similar to the BLM's argument in support of its use of a CE for the Proposed Rules, the Forest Service argued that its 2005 planning rule fit into its "rules, regulations, and policies" CE because "it merely identifies the procedures and standards for later development of forest plans, plan amendments, and plan revisions," and "does not change the physical environment in any way, and that there will be no direct environmental impacts." *Id.* at 1083. The plaintiffs, on the other hand, argued that the Forest Service's 2005 planning rule did much more than establish procedures, asserting that the rule established requirements for sustainability of social, economic and ecological systems, described the nature and scope of plans, and set forth required plan components. *Id.* at 1083-84.

Agreeing with the plaintiffs, the court stated that "NEPA requires *some* type of procedural due diligence—even in cases involving broad, programmatic changes." *Id.* at 1085 (emphasis in original). It also concluded that "NEPA does indeed contemplate preparation of EAs and EISs in the case of programmatic rules and changes." *Id.* Ultimately, the court held that the USDA violated NEPA when it "determined that the 2005 Rule satisfied a CE never before invoked for such large scale actions, and concluded that no further NEPA analysis was required." *Id.* at 1086.

The court further held that application of the CE was inappropriate because there was a possibility that the action may have significant environmental effects. First, the court explained that the rule could impact future site-specific plans. *Id.* at 1087. Second, applying the CEQ's regulations, the court determined that the 2005 rule may have significant environmental effects because it was "highly controversial," set "precedent for future action with significant effects," and "may be related to other action which has individually insignificant, but cumulatively significant impacts." *Id.* at 1089 (citing 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)). Accordingly, the court determined that the USDA, at a minimum, should have prepared an EA and remanded the matter to the USDA for further consideration.

As with the 2005 forest planning rules at issue in *Citizens*, the Proposed Rules clearly have the potential to cause a significant effect on the human environment. For example, the Proposed Rules not only completely overhaul the process for adopting and amending land use plans, but also dramatically change the required plan components and standards under which public lands will be managed in the future. The BLM's proposal to limit the required

components of a land use plan and use separate, non-plan "implementation strategies" that may be changed at any time without public involvement or inter-governmental coordination (in violation of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9), as discussed above) will undoubtedly have a significant impact on the future management of public lands, the communities in the vicinity of those lands, and the environment. *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9726-27 (providing text for proposed revision to definition of "resource management plan" that eliminates current plan component requirements (§ 1601.0-5), new "plan components" section (§ 1610.1-2), and new "implementation strategies" section (§ 1610.1-3)).

3. The Proposed Rules Are Intended to Implement Substantive Changes in the Manner the Public Lands Are Managed and Used.

Notwithstanding the BLM's repeated assertion that the Proposed Rules are only procedural in nature, the BLM clearly intends the Proposed Rules to have a *substantive* impact on the management and use of the public lands. For example, the preamble to the Proposed Rules and the Preliminary Categorical Exclusion Document acknowledge that the purpose of the new rules is to improve the BLM's ability to address "landscape-scale" resource issues, such as wildfire, habitat connectivity, and the demand for renewable and non-renewable energy resources, and to respond more effectively to environmental and social changes. *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9674; Preliminary Categorical Exclusion Document, p. 1.

In addition, the preamble to the Proposed Rules explain that the BLM's proposal to implement "landscape-scale" land use planning areas that would span BLM Field Offices and cross State lines is intended to facilitate the implementation of numerous environmental and energy policy directives (none of which have themselves undergone NEPA review). These include:

- Executive Order No. 13653–Preparing the United States for the Impacts of Climate Change (76 Fed. Reg. 66819) (directing Interior Department bureaus and agencies to strengthen existing landscape-level planning efforts);
- Secretarial Order 3289–Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change on America's Water, Land, and Other Natural Resources (issued Sept. 14, 2009; amended Feb. 22, 2010) (directing Interior Department bureaus to develop landscape-scale strategies for understanding and responding to climate change impacts);
- Interior Department Manual chapter entitled "Climate Change Policy" (523 DM 1) (effective Dec. 20, 2012) (directing Interior Department bureaus and agencies to promote landscape-scale, ecosystem-based management approaches to enhance the resilience and sustainability of linked human and natural system);
- Secretarial Order 3286–Renewable Energy Development by the Department of the Interior (issued March 11, 2009; amended Feb. 22, 2010) (identifying renewable energy production as one of the Interior Department's highest priorities and explaining need to identify locations suitable for landscape-scale renewable energy production);

- Secretary Order 3330–Improving Mitigation Policies and Practices of the Department of the Interior (issued Oct. 31, 2013) (calling for development of Interior Department -wide mitigation strategy that would use a landscape-scale approach); and
- Interior Department Manual chapter entitled "Implementing Mitigation at the Landscape-scale" (600 DM 6) (effective October 23, 2015).

See 81 Fed. Reg. 9678-79. Similarly, the BLM has undertaken to prepare "Rapid Ecoregional Assessments" (REAs) for vast areas in the western United States, which group public and other lands into so-called "eco-regions." The BLM has identified REAs as "an important step in support of adaptive, landscape-scale management approaches" which will be used in future resource plans. 81 Fed. Reg. 9680.

Given that the BLM has emphasized that implementation of these directives is a primary reason for adopting the Proposed Rules, *see*, *e.g.*, 81 Fed. Reg. 9679, it is imperative that the BLM conduct some review under NEPA to determine how adopting the Proposed Rules will facilitate implementation of these new policies and the effect that these new policies will have on the human environment.

In light of *Citizens*, and the potential significant impacts of the Proposed Rules, the BLM should not have applied a CE to an agency action that is as large in scale as the Proposed Rules. Instead, given the dramatic departure from the current planning rules, the BLM should have followed the lead of the Forest Service, which for its 2012 National Forest System planning rules engaged in one of the most collaborative rulemaking efforts in the agency's history and prepared a programmatic EIS to comply with its obligations under NEPA. *See* Final Rule and Record of Decision, National Forest System Land Management Planning, 77 Fed. Reg. 21162 (April 9, 2012); *see also* U.S. Forest Service Planning Rule Revision webpage.¹¹ Similarly, the BLM should, at a minimum, prepare a programmatic EA to assess the environmental impacts of the Proposed Rules. Because all future land use plans and amendments will be required to comply with the provisions of the Proposed Rules, now is the time for the BLM to do so will very likely subject any final rule to unnecessary and avoidable litigation over the BLM's failure to comply with NEPA.

C. Extraordinary Circumstances Prevent Application of a Categorical Exclusion to Proposed Rules.

Even where an action falls into a CE, an agency must nevertheless provide procedures for determining whether "extraordinary circumstances" exist, such that the action, though "normally excluded" from full NEPA analysis, "may have a significant environmental effect." *Center for Biological Diversity v. Salazar*, 706 F.3d 1085, 1096 (9th Cir. 2013) (quoting 40 C.F.R. § 1508.4). "Where there is substantial evidence in the record that exceptions to the categorical exclusion may apply, the agency must at the very least explain why the action does not fall within one of the exceptions." *California v. Norton*, 311 F.3d 1162 (9th Cir. 2002).

¹¹ Available at <u>http://www.fs.usda.gov/planningrule</u> (visited April 7, 2016).

For the reasons explained above, the 2.0 Coalition believes it was improper for the BLM to apply the CE for policies, regulations, directives and guidelines of a "procedural nature" to the Proposed Rules. However, even assuming that a CE does apply, there are several "extraordinary circumstances" that preclude the BLM from categorically excluding the Proposed Rules from review under NEPA. The BLM's conclusory statement in the Preliminary Categorical Exclusion Document that none of the extraordinary circumstances under DOI NEPA regulations apply because the Proposed Rules are "procedural in nature" and future actions will be subject to future NEPA review are inadequate to explain and justify the BLM's failure to conduct further NEPA review.

1. The Proposed Rules Have Highly Controversial Effects on the Human Environment.

A proposed action is "highly controversial" for purposes of NEPA when there is a "substantial dispute about the size, nature, or effect of the major Federal action." *Id.* (quoting *Blue Mountains Biodiversity Project v. Blackwood*, 161 F.3d 1208, 1212 (9th Cir. 1998)). "A substantial dispute exists when evidence . . . casts serious doubt upon the reasonableness of an agency's conclusions." *Humane Soc'y of U.S. v. Locke*, 626 F.3d 1040, 1057 (9th Cir. 2010).

There are numerous aspects of the Proposed Rules for which a substantial dispute exists between the BLM and stakeholders regarding the impacts of the Proposed Rules on various aspects of the environment. Examples of aspects of the Proposed Rules that will have a significant effect on the human environment and must be further analyzed by the BLM include:

- The BLM's shift to landscape-scale land use planning;
- The BLM's use of new and untested "eco-regional" planning;
- The BLM's reliance on controversial Secretarial and agency policy directives and guidance documents, which themselves have not undergone NEPA review or public comment, to justify its action and dictate future land use planning and management (discussed below);
- The BLM's elimination of the requirement that "the impact on local economies" be considered and instead allowing the "impacts of resource management plans on resource, environmental, ecological, social, and economic conditions" to be evaluated "at appropriate scales" in 43 C.F.R. § 1601.0-8;
- The BLM's proposal to allow the land use plans to be amended without further NEPA review, coordination and consistency review, and public comment through the use of "implementation strategies," which will establish standards and guidelines for future land and resource uses but not be part of the land use plan (discussed below);
- The BLM's significant changes to the required land use plan components (discussed below);

- The BLM's shift in focus from traditional public land uses, including the "principal or major uses" identified in FLPMA, to ecosystem management and land preservation (discussed below);
- The BLM's use of scientific information of questionable validity and integrity, in violation of the Information Quality Act (discussed below); and
- The BLM's dramatic changes in the requirements governing coordination with State and local governments and consistency review (discussed at length in the initial section of these comments).

Each of these proposed changes has the potential to significantly impact the human environment within future planning areas by causing dramatic shifts in management direction and project-level decision-making. The impact of these planning and management changes is exacerbated by the fact, discussed above, that the BLM is the largest land manager in the United States, managing almost 247 million acres of land in the 11 western States and Alaska. Under these circumstances, the BLM must perform some level of programmatic NEPA review to consider the potential environmental effects of these changes to the rules that govern public land planning and management.

2. The Proposed Rules Involve Potentially Significant Environmental Effects and Unique and Unknown Environmental Risks.

As discussed in the comments above, the preamble of the Proposed Rules explains that the BLM's proposed landscape-scale planning approach is the direct result of and is intended to implement numerous environmental and energy policy directives and initiatives issued by the current administration. In effect, the Interior Secretary and the BLM Director are proposing to make wholesale changes to the manner in which the public lands are managed and what land uses are acceptable through administrative fiat. However, neither the environmental impacts of the implementation of these policies and directives, nor the shift from the current planning process to landscape-scale, eco-regional planning to implement the policies and directives, have been evaluated by the BLM under NEPA or in any other public context.

While it is the 2.0 Coalition's position that the existence of these potential environmental impacts prevents the BLM from applying a CE to the Proposed Rules, even if the CE relied on by the BLM were applicable, these potential significant environmental effects clearly represent extraordinary circumstances obligating the BLM to conduct some level of NEPA review.

3. The Proposed Rules Establish Precedent for Future Actions and Represent a Decision In Principle About Future Actions With Potentially Significant Environmental Effects.

One of the BLM's principal justifications for not conducting a NEPA analysis for the Proposed Rules is that future land use plans and plan amendments will be subject to NEPA. However, the Proposed Rules, if adopted, will control the process, criteria, requirements and outcome of land use plans that affect some 247 million acres of public lands. BLM Deciding and Responsible Officials will be required to follow the Proposed Rules, rather than evaluating, for

example whether landscape-scale, eco-regional planning improperly marginalizes the impacts on local economies and the communities they support. Further, any NEPA review on an individual land use plan will be limited to selected alternatives and the impacts of those alternatives within the planning area, and not on the wider impacts of the dramatic changes to public land planning and management that adoption of the Proposed Rules will facilitate. That being the case, it is imperative that the BLM conduct a programmatic NEPA analysis now to assess how the Proposed Rules may impact those future land use planning and management decisions.

4. The Proposed Rules Will Have Significant Impacts on Public Health and Safety.

The Proposed Rules remove important language from the current planning rules (43 C.F.R. § 1610.3-2) that expressly requires BLM guidance and land use plans to be consistent with federal and state pollution control laws, as implemented by applicable federal and state air, water, noise, and other pollution standards. The inclusion of this language in the existing rules ensures the BLM's compliance with Congress's mandate that the BLM, in approving and amending land use plans, "shall . . . provide for compliance with applicable pollution control laws, including State and Federal air, water, noise, or other pollution standards or implementation plans." 43 U.S.C. § 1712(c)(8). The removal of this language could lead to the failure of BLM officials to adequately consult and coordinate with State and local governments during the planning process regarding applicable pollution control laws necessary to protect the public health and safety. As a result, the Proposed Rules could have a significant impact on the public health and safety.

Furthermore, the BLM's proposal to shift to landscape-scale planning within eco-regions that span multiple BLM districts and possibly State lines will inevitably result in many more State and local governmental bodies vying to have their issues acknowledged and addressed in connection with any particular planning decision. This will dilute the ability of the BLM to coordinate with State and local governments to address local land use and public health and safety issues that should be taken into consideration by the BLM during the planning process. The potential for the BLM's new planning approach to significantly affect local health and safety issues is sufficient to require the BLM to consider this issue in the NEPA review process.

The bottom line is that the Proposed Rules represent a major shift from ensuring that State and local issues are considered during the planning process to implementing national policies and dictates, under which local issues and concerns are irrelevant. The impacts of using an approach that marginalizes State and local governments (as shown, for example, by the changes to coordination and consistency review discussed above) and emphasizes centralized, top-down control from Washington, D.C., are likely to be significant and should be fully evaluated.

D. The Proposed Rules Are Part of a Larger Interior Department Program, the Effects of Which Should Be Evaluated and Disclosed to the Public Pursuant to NEPA.

For the reasons set forth above, the Proposed Rules constitute a major federal action that will have significant impacts on the human environment. But the Proposed Rules are also part of

an even larger Interior Department program that is itself subject to NEPA. As the BLM explained in the preamble of the Proposed Rules, the new planning rules will incorporate and implement that program. 81 Fed. Reg. 9678-79. Consequently, before the Proposed Rules can be adopted, NEPA review must be completed on this larger departmental program. To date, however, the Interior Department has ignored its NEPA responsibilities and is proceeding to implement the program in small segments while ignoring NEPA. The BLM's use of a CE to avoid NEPA review of the Proposed Rules, without acknowledging the broader Interior Department program of which the new planning rules are an integral part, is another instance of unlawful segmentation in violation of NEPA.

1. Overview of NEPA's Requirements.

Section 1508.18 of CEQ's regulations implementing NEPA define "major federal action" to include:

<u>Adoption of official policy</u>, such as rules, regulations, and interpretations adopted pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, . . . ; treaties and international conventions or agreements; *formal documents establishing an agency's policies which will result in or substantially alter agency programs*.

40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(b)(1) (emphasis added; citation omitted). Major federal actions also include:

<u>Adoption of programs</u>, such as a group of concerted actions to implement a specific policy or plan; systematic and connected agency decisions allocating agency resources to implement a specific statutory program or executive directive.

Id. at § 1508.18(b)(4) (emphasis added).

In addition, the CEQ regulations discuss "broad" federal actions, explaining that "[e]nvironmental impact statements may be prepared, and are sometimes required, for broad Federal actions such as the adoption of new agency programs or regulations (§ 1508.18)." "Broad" federal actions may be evaluated geographically or generically. The latter approach includes "actions which have relevant similarities, such as common timing, impacts, alternatives, methods of implementation, media, or subject matter." *Id.* at § 1502.4(c)(2). Federal agencies are instructed to "prepare statements on broad actions so that they are relevant to policy and are timed to coincide with meaningful points in agency planning and decisionmaking." *Id.* at 1502.4(b).

A recent CEQ Memorandum also explains the types of federal actions subject to programmatic NEPA review, expanding on 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18. Michael Boots, Council on Environmental Quality, Memorandum for Heads of Federal Departments and Agencies: Effective Use of Programmatic NEPA Reviews, 13-15 (Dec. 18, 2014) (Boots Memorandum).¹²

¹² Available at <u>http://energy.gov/nepa/downloads/final-guidance-effective-use-programmatic-nepa-review</u> (visited May 16, 2016).

"Adopting official policy" is described as a "[d]ecision to adopt in a formal document an official policy that would result in or substantially alter agency programs." *Id.* at 13. "The programmatic analysis for such a decision should include a road map for future agency actions with defined objectives, priorities, rules, or mechanisms to implement objectives." *Id.*

The other category of action, "adopting agency programs," is described as a "decision to proceed with a group of concerted actions to implement a specific policy or plan, e.g., an organized agenda with defined objectives to be achieved during implementation of specified activities." *Id.* This type of programmatic action includes, for example, "[a] new agency mission or initiative" and "[p]roposals to substantially redesign existing programs." *Id.*

For the reasons set forth below, the Interior Department's climate change and mitigation programs clearly meet these definitions, and triggered NEPA. The programs are resulting in dramatic changes to the planning, management and use of federal lands and resources, including public lands administered by the BLM. The Proposed Rules are part of these closely connected programs and cannot be adopted until the Interior Department has complied with NEPA.

2. The Interior Department's New Land and Resource Management Programs.

In the Proposed Rules, the BLM has identified various executive and secretarial orders, departmental policies and directives, and related agency documents that together comprise a department-wide program that will radically change how the public lands and other federal land and resources are managed. *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9678-79. This program consists of a series of closely related, interconnected actions being simultaneously undertaken by Interior Department bureaus and agencies, including the Fish and Wildlife Service, National Park Service, National Historic Preservation Council, and USGS, in addition to the BLM. There are two interwoven strands, both of which mandate the use of landscape-scale, eco-regional approaches to the management of public lands and other federal land and resources by Interior Department agencies.

a. The Climate Change Adaption Program.

The BLM states in the preamble to the Planning Rules that the rules "would respond to and advance direction set forth in several Executive or Secretarial Orders and related policies and strategies. This direction demonstrates an increasing emphasis within the DOI, and the Federal Government, on the use of science-based, collaborative, landscape-scale approaches to natural resource management." *Id.* at 9678. One of the policies being "advanced" is the Interior Department's program to address climate change.

The BLM has identified several programmatic policies and directives that establish and require implementation of the climate change program. *Id.* at 9678-79. The first is "Secretarial Order 3289–Addressing the Impacts of Climate Change on America's Water, Land, and Other Natural Resources (issued Sept. 14, 2009, and amended Feb. 22, 2010)." *Id.* at 9678. This order directed Interior Department bureaus to develop landscape-scale strategies for responding to climate change impacts. The order states: "The realities of climate change require us to change how we manage the land, water, fish and wildlife, and cultural heritage and tribal lands and

resources we oversee." Secretarial Order 3289 (amended) at 1. It also ordered the formation of the Climate Change Response Council within the Office of the Secretary (later renamed the Energy and Climate Change Council) to coordinate activities within and across the bureaus to develop and implement an integrated strategy for climate change response by those agencies.

As direction for the Planning Rules, the BLM also invoked the Interior Department's Climate Change Policy, issued on December 20, 2012, and codified in the Departmental Manual at 523 DM 1. 81 Fed. Reg. 9678-79. The BLM explained that the Climate Change Policy "directs DOI bureaus and agencies to 'promote landscape-scale, ecosystem-based management approaches to enhance the resilience and sustainability of linked human and natural systems." *Id.* The policy imposes a number of requirements on Interior Department agencies and bureaus, including:

"Consider climate change when developing or revising management plans, setting priorities for scientific research and assessments, and making major investment decisions."

"Use well-defined and established approaches, as appropriate, for managing through uncertainty, including: (1) vulnerability assessments, (2) scenario planning, (3) adaptive management, and (4) other risk management or structured decision making approaches...."

"Promote landscape-scale, ecosystem-based management approaches to enhance the resilience and sustainability of linked human and natural systems."

"Advance approaches to managing linked human and natural systems that help mitigate the impacts of climate change, including:

(a) Protect diversity of habitat, communities and species;

(b) Protect and restore core, unfragmented habitat areas and the key habitat linkages among them;

- (c) Anticipate and prepare for shifting wildlife movement patterns;
- (d) Maintain key ecosystem services;

(e) Monitor, prevent, and slow the spread of invasive species (defined in Executive Order 13112 as alien species whose introduction does or is likely to cause economic or environmental harm or harm to human health); and

(f) Focus development activities in ecologically disturbed areas when possible, and avoid ecologically sensitive landscapes, culturally sensitive areas, and crucial wildlife corridors."

Climate Change Policy, 523 DM 1, at 2-3. These requirements are incorporated in varying degrees into the BLM's Proposed Rules, which, as explained herein, would adopt landscape-

scale, eco-regional management strategies, and well as imposing mitigation and monitoring requirements through BLM land use plans.

Finally, the BLM discussed the Department of the Interior Climate Change Adaptation Plan for 2014.¹³ 81 Fed. Reg. 9679. According to the BLM, the Climate Change Adaptation Plan "provides guidance for implementing 523 DM 1 [the Climate Change Policy] and 'Executive Order No. 13653—Preparing the United States for the Impacts of Climate Change' (78 FR 66819)." The BLM also explained:

The Climate Change Adaptation Plan directs the DOI bureaus and agencies to strengthen existing landscape level planning efforts; use well-defined and established approaches for managing through uncertainty, such as adaptive management; and maintain key ecosystem services, among other important directives.

Id. The Climate Change Adaptation Plan itself states that it focuses "on the Department's work to address climate change through implementation of Executive Order 13653 and the Department's Climate Change Adaptation Policy [*sic*] (523 DM 1)." Climate Change Adaptation Plan at 2. The plan contains a list of climate adaptation priorities for each of the Department's bureaus, and identifies "strengthening existing landscape level planning efforts" as a priority for the BLM. *Id.* at 11.

The Climate Change Adaptation Plan also sets forth the Interior Department's "Climate Change Adaptation Policy," which is described as "official policy" and is taken from the Climate Change Policy codified in the Departmental Manual at 523 DM 1, discussed above. *Id.* at 16-19. The plan also sets forth the "guiding principles" that "the Department and its component bureaus and offices adhere to" in addressing climate change. *Id.* at 19-26. These guidelines include the use of "ecosystem-based management" principles (called "EBM") to manage land and resources, and approaches "to enhance the ability of ecosystems and wildlife populations to absorb change and maintain key qualities and services." *Id.* at 20-22.

The secretarial orders, the 2012 Climate Change Policy, and 2014 Climate Change Adaptation Plan are obviously "formal documents establishing an agency's policies which will result in or substantially alter agency programs" and, moreover, are a "group of concerted actions to implement a specific policy or plan" and constitute "systematic and connected agency decisions allocating agency resources to implement a specific statutory program or executive directive." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(b)(1), (4). Yet none of these program elements, nor the larger program itself, which will dramatically alter the programs of Interior Department bureaus and agencies, has undergone NEPA review.

The program policies are also subject to coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). As discussed above, that statute requires that the Interior Secretary "provide for meaningful

¹³ Available at

https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/migrated/greening/sustainability_plan/upload/2014_DOI_Climate _____Change_Adaptation_Plan.pdf (visited May 18, 2016).

public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands, including early public notice of proposed decisions which may have a significant impact on non-Federal lands." Clearly, these policies and directives, which collectively constitute a departmental program, constitute a land use program that affects the public lands. But no attempt to coordinate with local governments has been made by the Interior Department.

b. The Landscape-Scale Mitigation Program.

The BLM also explained that the Proposed Rules are intended to comply with recent Interior Department policies on mitigation. The preamble to the Proposed Rules states that "recent directives associated with renewable energy development and mitigation practices emphasize the importance of a collaborative, landscape-scale approach," which the Proposed Rules will implement on the public lands. 81 Fed. Reg. 9679. The BLM's preamble indicates that these policies and directives are driving the agency's proposed changes in the planning and management of the public lands, stating:

"Secretarial Order 3330—Improving Mitigation Policies and Practices of the Department of the Interior," issued on October 31, 2013, called for the development of a DOI-wide mitigation strategy, which would use a landscape-scale approach to identify and facilitate investments in key conservation priorities in a region. The April 2014 report, "A Strategy for Improving the Mitigation Policies and Practices of The Department of the Interior," provides direction to implement such an approach. And the Departmental Manual was revised in October 2015, to include direction to all bureaus and agencies for implementation of this approach to resource management (600 DM 6).

Thus, as with the case of the Interior Department's climate change program, there are a series of inter-connected secretarial orders, departmental manual direction and departmental reports that mandate mitigation which the Proposed Rules will implement. Moreover, there is a significant overlap between the climate change policies and the mitigation policies, including the use of landscape-scale land and resource planning and management. The mitigation policies are themselves being driven, at least in part, by the requirement that land and resources users mitigate future (and highly speculative) climate change impacts.

As stated by the BLM, the impetus for this new program was Secretarial Order 3330, entitled "Improving Mitigation Policies and Practices of the Department of the Interior," issued in 2013. This order established "a Department-wide mitigation strategy that will ensure consistency and efficiency in the review and permitting of infrastructure development projects and in conserving our Nation's valuable natural and cultural resources." Secretarial Order 3330 at 1. The "Background" section of the order emphasizes the enormous scope of this new program and its impacts:

The Department of the Interior (Department) has vast management responsibilities across our Nation's Federal lands, waters, and mineral resources. The Department serves as the steward for 20 percent of the Nation's lands, oversees the responsible development of over 20 percent of U.S. energy supplies,

is the largest supplier and manager of water in the 17 Western States, and maintains relationships with over 500 federally-recognized tribes. The Department is responsible for the conservation and management of fish and wildlife resources, including over 800 native migratory bird species and nearly 2,000 federally-listed threatened and endangered species. In addition, the Department is directly or administratively responsible for the stewardship of over 80,000 properties on the National Register of Historic Places, which represents 1.4 million individual resources including buildings, sites, districts, structures, and objects. Over 400 units of the National Park System preserve and protect nearly 27,000 historic structures and more than 700 cultural landscapes as well as nearly 100,000 archeological properties. The Department also oversees national trails, heritage areas, and sacred sites that intertwine public, tribal, and private land ownership.

Id. The secretarial order also noted the relationship between the Department's climate change program and the new mitigation program, including shifting to landscape-scale planning and management.

Secretary's Order 3289, dated September 2009 and amended in February 2010, directed the Department's senior leadership to execute a coordinated Departmentwide strategy to increase scientific understanding and development of effective adaptive management tools to address the impacts of climate change on our natural and cultural resources. . . In response to Secretary's Order 3289, the Department has already developed climate adaptation policies, plans, and strategies and will continue to further develop important climate adaptation tools. As the Department continues to review development projects and identify associated mitigation, it must consider the effects of climate change and incorporate landscape-level strategies to address these impacts into any mitigation framework.

Id. at 2.

The basic framework for the Interior Department's mitigation program is an Interior Department task force report to the Secretary issued in 2014 called "A Strategy for Improving the Mitigation Policies and Practices of the Department of the Interior" (April 2014) (Task Force Report). The Task Force report establishes a series of "guiding principles for landscape-scale mitigation," which are accomplished through, among other things, BLM land use plans. *Id.* at 9-12. The first guideline, for example, states:

Landscape-scale: Incorporate landscape-scale approaches into all facets of development and conservation planning, project review, and mitigation implementation.

Id. at 9 (bold in original). Other guidelines include employing the so-called "mitigation hierarchy," using "advanced mitigation planning," and fostering "resilience" (to address climate change). The Task Force Report explains:

[Mitigation strategies] should use the best available science and be inclusive of, and incorporated into, any existing plans that describe the agency's intended use and management of a particular landscape, *such as Bureau of Land Management* (*BLM*) *resource management plans*, Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) threatened and endangered species recovery plans, and National Park Service (NPS) park unit plans.

Id. at 10 (emphasis added).

The Task Force Report discussed the interrelationship between the Interior Department's climate change program and its mitigation program, stating:

The Department's climate change adaptation policy, issued in December 2012, requires the Department and its bureaus to "use the best available science to increase understanding of climate change impacts, inform decision making, and coordinate an appropriate response to impacts on land, water, wildlife, cultural and tribal resources, and other assets." It also established <u>the Department's policy</u> to promote landscape-scale, ecosystem-based management approaches to enhance the resilience and sustainability of linked human and natural systems and consider climate change when developing or revising management plans, setting priorities for scientific research and assessments, and making major investment decisions.

... Landscape-scale mitigation provides opportunities to build resilience by considering the cumulative effects of development, incorporating conservation principles such as habitat connectivity into landscape strategies, and ensuring that conservation and development activities take place within a comprehensive regional strategy

Id. at 11. The Task Force Report also identified a series of "near-term deliverables" intended to inculcate these new land and resource planning and management principles and policies into the activities of the BLM and other Interior Department agencies. *Id.* at 14-15.

One of the "deliverables" was the development of a new Department Manual chapter for implementing the principles and procedures set forth in the report. This new chapter was issued on October 23, 2015 and is codified at 600 DM 6. According to the explanation in the transmittal sheet, ¹⁴ the new chapter "reaffirms the Department's authority to require and determine the scope of compensatory mitigation; establishes a goal for the conservation outcome of mitigation investments; enumerates standards when implementing landscape-scale mitigation approaches, and; [*sic*] outlines responsibilities of bureaus and offices in fulfilling the goals established in [Secretarial Order] 3330."

¹⁴ Available at <u>https://www.doi.gov/sites/doi.gov/files/uploads/TRS%20and%20Chapter%20FINAL.pdf</u> (visited May 18, 2016).

The new landscape-scale mitigation policy was recently addressed by the Deputy Secretary of the Interior, Michael Connor, in a press release called "A 21st Century Approach to Balancing Development and Conservation of Public Resources," dated November 3, 2015. In that press release, Deputy Secretary Connor discussed the Interior Department's new approach to land and resource management:

To guide the Department's implementation of the Presidential Memorandum, today the Interior Department issued a new Departmental [mitigation] policy. This new policy, stemming from Secretary Jewell's first Secretarial Order, identifies the key principles and processes needed to implement a landscape-scale mitigation approach to, as the Secretary noted introducing her Order at the National Press Club in 2013, help "balance the inherent tensions that can exist with development and conservation." The policy follows through on a commitment made in a 2014 report to the Secretary from her Energy and Climate Change Task Force: Strategy for Improving the Mitigation Policies and Practices of the Department of the Interior. *With the Departmental policy in place, the Bureau of Land Management (BLM) and the Fish and Wildlife Service will soon also provide policies to further implement this approach through their programs.*

By establishing landscape-scale mitigation requirements up front in the planning and permitting process, this approach provides project proponents with more certainty and clarity in their projects while also supporting environmental goals for impacted resources at scales necessary to protect them over the long term. At the same time, the Secretary notes that by guiding development to the areas of low environmental value, the Department can reduce the likelihood of conflict and costly delays while streamlining permit processes.

(Emphasis added).¹⁵

The "Presidential Memorandum" mentioned by the Deputy Secretary was also issued on November 3, 2015, and is called "Mitigating Impacts on Natural Resources from Development and Encouraging Related Private Investment." The BLM also noted this memorandum in the preamble of the Proposed Rules, stating that this memorandum "affirmed the importance of applying a landscape-scale approach by directing agencies that '[1]arge-scale plans and analysis should inform the identification of areas where development may be most appropriate, where high natural resource values result in the best locations for protection and restoration, or where natural resource values are irreplaceable' (80 FR 68743)." 81 Fed Reg. 9679.

Finally, we briefly note that, as the Deputy Secretary indicated, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) did issue its proposed mitigation last March, 10 days after the Proposed Rules were published. *Proposed Revisions to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Mitigation Policy*, 81 Fed. Reg. 12380 (March 8, 2016). Like the Proposed Rules, the purpose of FWS's new policy is the implementation of various Interior Department policies, including

¹⁵ Available at <u>https://www.doi.gov/blog/21st-century-approach-balancing-development-and-conservation-public-resources</u> (visited May 18, 2016).

implementing "landscape-scale" mitigation, promoting the "resilience of resources" in the face of climate change, encouraging "strategic conservation investments" in lands and other resources, and incorporating "adaptive management" into resource management decision-making, in addition to requiring mitigation for land and water impacts. 81 Fed. Reg. 12381-82.

Like the Interior Department's climate change program, the mitigation program documents, including Secretarial Order 3330, the 2014 Interior Department Task Force Report, and Interior Department Manual chapter entitled "Implementing Mitigation at the Landscape-scale" (codified at 600 DM 6), are "formal documents establishing an agency's policies which will result in or substantially alter agency programs" and, moreover, are a "group of concerted actions to implement a specific policy or plan" and constitute "systematic and connected agency decisions allocating agency resources to implement a specific statutory program or executive directive." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(b)(1), (4). Yet none of these program elements, nor the larger program itself, which will dramatically alter the programs of Interior Department bureaus and agencies, has undergone NEPA review.

The program policies are also subject to coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). As discussed above, that statute requires that the Interior Secretary "provide for meaningful public involvement of State and local government officials, both elected and appointed, in the development of land use programs, land use regulations, and land use decisions for public lands, including early public notice of proposed decisions which may have a significant impact on non-Federal lands." The policies and directives, which collectively constitute a departmental program, clearly constitute a land use program that will significantly alter the way planning and management of public lands will be conducted. But no attempt to coordinate with local governments has been made by the Interior Department.

3. A Programmatic EIS Is Required to Evaluate and Disclose the Impacts of the Interior Department's Programs.

As shown above, the Interior Department's policies and directives are clearly subject to NEPA review, as well as coordination under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9). These programmatic documents will result in dramatic changes in the way the public lands are managed. Indeed, the Interior Department intends to significantly alter federal land and resource planning and management—that is the point of the Department's programs, as the official documents summarized above plainly show.

Unfortunately, the BLM has relied on the Interior Department's climate change and mitigation programs as justification for overhauling its rules governing public land planning and management. In the preamble to the Proposed Rules, the BLM has explained:

Collectively, these directives identify the importance of science-based decisionmaking; landscape-scale management approaches; adaptive management techniques to manage for uncertainty; and active coordination and collaboration with partners and stakeholders. <u>The BLM believes that changes to the resource</u> <u>management planning process will assist in effectively implementing these</u> <u>directives</u>. 81 Fed. Reg. 9679 (emphasis added). Likewise, on its "Planning 2.0" webpage, the BLM states: "The proposed changes support the BLM's shift to science-based, landscape-scale approaches to resource management."

Thus, the Proposed Rules are connected with, and are intended to support implementation of the Interior Department's climate change and mitigation programs. In other words, the Proposed Rules are an important part of a larger, department-wide program that involves a series of closely related, interconnected actions being simultaneously undertaken by other Interior Department bureaus and agencies. In order to comply with NEPA, these interrelated actions, including the Proposed Rules, must be evaluated together, as part of a department-wide program, rather than being segmented to avoid NEPA. In the meantime, the BLM must scrap the Proposed Rules, which are a part of and are intended to implement an Interior Department program that was unlawfully adopted.

III. Additional Comments on the Proposed Rules.

Additional aspects of the Proposed Rules are highly problematic and will significantly change how the public lands are managed. First, the BLM proposes to eliminate several important and required components of land use plans and recast them as "implementation strategies" that will function as agency rules and/or extensions of the land use plan without compliance with FLPMA, NEPA, and the Administrative Procedure Act.

Second, the BLM's proposed changes to the planning assessment process constitute a significant shift away from the current planning rules' focus on identification of issues and traditional land uses within the planning area to a focus on national priorities centered on environmental and ecological considerations. These changes result in part from the implementation of climate change and landscape-scale mitigation programs discussed above.

Third, the BLM's proposed definition of "high quality information" would relax the agency's existing information quality standards and allow information of questionable accuracy and integrity to be used to develop land use plans.

Fourth, the BLM's proposed narrowing of the protest standards will effectively eliminate the ability of the public to protest many issues involved in the development of land use plans. These problems are addressed in more detail below.

A. The Removal of "Implementation Strategies" from BLM Land Use Plans is Improper.

Under the BLM's current planning rules, there are eight elements that a land use plan generally establishes:

(1) Land areas for limited, restricted or exclusive use; designation, including ACEC designation; and transfer from Bureau of Land Management Administration;

(2) Allowable resource uses (either singly or in combination) and related levels of production or use to be maintained;

(3) Resource condition goals and objectives to be attained;

(4) Program constraints and general management practices needed to achieve the above items;

(5) Need for an area to be covered by more detailed and specific plans;

(6) Support action, including such measures as resource protection, access development, realty action, cadastral survey, etc., as necessary to achieve the above;

(7) General implementation sequences, where carrying out a planned action is dependent upon prior accomplishment of another planned action; and

(8) Intervals and standards for monitoring and evaluating the plan to determine the effectiveness of the plan and the need for amendment or revision.

43 C.F.R. § 1601.0–5(n) (definition of "resource management plan"; italics added). The Proposed Rules remove elements (4) through (7) from the plan (italicized above), and turn them into "implementation strategies." *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9689-94 (discussing changes to land use plan components).

This division of plan components has important consequences because implementation strategies (i) will be developed solely by the BLM after publication of the draft plan and the draft NEPA document; (ii) will not be subject to NEPA; (iii) will not be subject to public notice and comment; (iv) will not be subject to coordination and consistency review under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9); (v) will not be subject to protest; and (vi) can be modified at any time in BLM's sole discretion, again without complying with NEPA, public notice and comment, coordination and consistency review, and the opportunity to protest. *See* 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1–3 (proposed rule describing implementation strategies).

However, it is uncertain exactly what implementation strategies actually are and how they will be used. On the one hand, they are not part of the land use plan and, as stated, can be adopted (and changed) without complying with the requirements needed to adopt or amend a land use plan. On the other hand, they are not a project-level determination (which are also generally subject to procedural requirements such as NEPA and public notice-and-comment, and may be administratively appealed), but they may "assist" in making project-level determinations.

The Proposed Rules define "implementation strategies" as "strategies that assist in implementing future actions consistent with the plan component of the approved resource management plan." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1–3 (proposed rule defining "implementation strategies"). This definition provides little guidance, as there are many things that could assist in "implementing future actions." More information is provided in § 1610.1–3, called "implementation strategies." This proposed rule states: "Implementation strategies are not a plan component. Implementation strategies are intended to assist the BLM to carry out the plan components." Again, it is uncertain what this means—many things could "assist the BLM to carry out the plan components."

Proposed § 1610.1–3 also indicates that implementation strategies include "management measures" and "monitoring procedures" (although other types of implementations strategies are apparently permitted as well). A "management measure is one or more potential action(s) the BLM may take in order to achieve the goals and objectives of the resource management plan." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1–3 (proposed). This statement indicates that management measures are decisions issued by BLM officials to implement land use plan objectives, such as a program to eliminate invasive species and improve range conditions or a prescribed burn program to eliminate overgrown timber with significant fuel loads and reduce wildfire risk. These sorts of actions are subject to their own decision-making process, including NEPA compliance, compliance with other applicable laws (e.g., the Endangered Species Act), and are subject to administrative appeal. They cannot be exempted from the normal decision-making process by calling them implementation strategies.

Proposed § 1610.1–3 goes on to state: "Management measures may include, but are not limited to, resource management practices, best management practices, standard operating procedures, provision for the preparation of more detailed and specific plans, or other measures as appropriate." This sentence suggests that implementation strategies are actually standards and guidelines that will prescribe and control land and resources uses. Thus, if a miner seeks approval of a plan of operations under the BLM's Subpart 3809 rules, he will be subject to specific standards and requirements adopted by the BLM as an implementation strategy. Similarly, if a rancher seeks renewal of his grazing permit, his allotment will be subject to implementation strategies that limit forage use, prescribe monitoring requirements, restrict access to water, and so forth. If so, then an implementation strategy is the equivalent of a rule and would have to be adopted as part of the land use plan or properly promulgated as a rule under the Administrative Procedure Act.

The preamble's justification of why implementation strategies do not rise to the level of plan components and are exempt from any decision-making requirements is also confusing. *See* 81 Fed. Reg. 9691-93. With respect to management measures, the BLM states that such measures "could include resource management practices, best management practices, standard operating procedures, the preparation of other more detailed and specific plans, or other measures as appropriate." *Id.* at 9693. Notwithstanding that explanation, BLM then states that implementation strategies "do not provide planning-level management direction and [are] therefore not a component of the resource management plan." If management measures, resource management direction," what are they? Evidently, the answer is they are nothing more than a "forecast" of what actions the agency might elect to take or otherwise require of permitted activities. If that is what BLM intends, it defeats the fundamental purpose of planning and provides no certainty whatsoever for land and resource users.

The BLM also explains in the preamble:

Nor do [implementation strategies] represent a commitment or a decision to implement the potential actions described in the implementation strategy. A future implementation decision occurs after adoption of a plan. As a result, future actions associated with, or incorporating an implementation strategy, would not occur until the implementation stage and would therefore require site-specific NEPA analysis and compliance with other relevant laws before a final decision is made and any action is taken.

Id. at 9692. This discussion suggests, on the one hand, that there will be a process by which a particular implementation strategy will be adopted, i.e., there will be a "future implementation decision," following which the strategy will become effective. It also suggests, however, that the implementation strategy itself will not be formally approved. The implementation strategy instead will be applied in the context of a particular project-level decision, such as a permit application or other land use authorization request (e.g., a right-of-way application). If that is the case, there will be no "future implementation decision." The "NEPA analysis and compliance with other relevant laws" will pertain to the permit application and not to the adoption of the implementation strategy. The implementation strategy would evade formal adoption (and, therefore, appeal), NEPA compliance, compliance with other federal laws, and coordination and consistency review under FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

Similar confusion exists with respect to monitoring. The Proposed Rules categorize "monitoring procedures" as implementation strategies (*see* 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1-3(a)(2)), but also includes "monitoring and evaluation standards" as plan components (*see* 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1-2(b)(3)). Which is correct? Or, perhaps, do monitoring requirements become an implementation strategy if the BLM decides to adopt additional or new monitoring requirements and wants to avoid amending the land use plan?

The BLM also explains that "monitoring procedures" would "describe methods for monitoring the resource management plan" while "monitoring standards" include "indicators and intervals for monitoring and evaluation to determine whether the objectives are being met or there is relevant new information that may warrant amendment or revision of the resource management plan." *Id.* at 9692. The distinction between these two categories is not at all apparent, and there is no justification for the former being a plan component while the latter is excluded.

The bottom line is that it is unclear—presumably by design—what an implementation strategy is and how it will apply to future land and resources users. Is it simply non-binding guidance? Is it prescriptive and must be followed by BLM officials? How will it affect future land and resource uses? And what other types of implementation strategies are permissible? Frankly, this is one of the murkiest rules ever proposed by a federal agency. And even worse, the Proposed Rules would allow the BLM unfettered discretion to create, impose, and modify the implementation strategies without any coordination, public comment, NEPA analysis or compliance with other laws applicable to agency decision-making. This regulatory sleight of hand should be eliminated from the Proposed Rules.

B. The Proposed Planning Assessment Process Is Unworkable and Biased Against Traditional Public Lands Uses.

The initial phase of the BLM's current plan development process proceeds very logically. First, at the beginning of the process, the Field Manager identifies issues that affect the planning area, with input from cooperating agencies and, moreover, from other federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes (in accordance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9)) as well as the public, and analyzes those suggestions along with data and information to select the topics and determine the issues to be addressed during the planning process. 43 C.F.R. §1610.4-1 (current).

Second, the Field Manager develops criteria to guide development of the land use plan or revision, to ensure:

- (1) It is tailored to the issues previously identified; and
- (2) That BLM avoids unnecessary data collection and analyses.

Id. at §1610.4-2(a) (current). Notably, these criteria will be based on "applicable law, Director and State Director guidance, the results of public participation, and coordination with any cooperating agencies and other Federal agencies, State and local governments, and federally recognized Indian tribes." *Id.* at §1610.4-2(b) (current). Again, coordination with other federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes must occur in accordance with FLPMA Section 202(c)(9).

Third, the Field Manager, in collaboration with any cooperating agencies, collects and assembles resource, environmental, social, economic and institutional data and information, notably emphasizing "significant issues and decisions with the greatest potential impact." *Id.* at §1610.4-3 (current).

Finally, the Field Manager, in collaboration with any cooperating agencies, conducts an analysis of the current management situation. *Id.* at \$1610.4-4 (current). "The analysis of the management situation shall provide, consistent with multiple use principles, the basis for formulating reasonable alternatives, including the types of resources for development or protection." *Id.* This rule identifies nine non-exclusive elements to be considered during this step. *Id.* at \$1610.4-4(a)-(i) (current).

Notably, element (e) consists of "[s]pecific requirements and constraints to achieve consistency with policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local government agencies and Indian tribes." Thus, at the outset of the current planning process, coordination with other federal agencies, State and local governments, and Indian tribes takes place, and specific requirements and constraints are identified to ensure that the consistency requirement of FLPMA Section 202(c)(9) will be considered and ultimately satisfied.

The Proposed Rules, by contrast, would dramatically alter these initial plan development steps. As discussed in Section I of these comments, early coordination and consistency review would be eliminated, as part of the BLM's effort to marginalize the roles of State and local governments in the planning process and reduce consistency review to a post-plan development afterthought. These comments will not be repeated here.

In addition, the Proposed Rules would collapse the four plan development steps summarized above into a single step called "planning assessment." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.4 (proposed). At bottom, this new step consists primarily of a "call to the public" "to provide existing data and information or suggest other policies, guidance, strategies, or plans described under paragraph (a)(2) of this section, for the BLM's consideration in the planning assessment."

Id. at § 1610.4(a)(3) (proposed). Proposed § 1610.4(a)(2) refers broadly to the identification of various secretarial and agency orders, directives and policies (which, as discussed, have not been subject to NEPA review, coordination and consistency review, or public review and comment):

Identify relevant national, regional, or local policies, guidance, strategies or plans for consideration in the planning assessment. These may include, but are not limited to, executive or Secretarial orders, Departmental or BLM policy, Director or deciding official guidance, mitigation strategies, interagency initiatives, and State or multi-state resource plans[.]

Thus, the proposed planning assessment rule would shift the planning focus away from identifying and addressing significant local and State issues and concerns to the implementation of national policies and strategies, notwithstanding their impact on local communities and their citizens.

At the same time, the BLM has proposed to revise 43 C.F.R. § 1601.0-8, called "principles." The current version of § 1601.0-8 requires that "*the impact on local economies*" be considered. Under the Proposed Rules, this requirement would be eliminated. Instead, the BLM would "consider the impacts of resource management plans on resource, environmental, ecological, social, and economic conditions *at appropriate scales.*" 43 C.F.R. § 1601.0-8 (proposed; emphasis added). This provision would allow the BLM to disregard the impacts of land use plans at a local level, and support the shift in land use planning to national policies and goals, including the climate change and mitigation policies discussed above.

This major policy shift is readily apparent when the elements that are addressed in conducting the analysis of the management situation under current § 1610.4-4 are compared to the elements that would be addressed under proposed § 1610.4(c). This proposed section requires the Responsible Official to "consider and document" seven elements (with a number of subparts), virtually all of which ignore the degree of local importance/dependence on use of resources in the planning area. Among other things, these new elements eliminate references to land and resources *uses*, substituting the term "goods and services," which includes "ecological services"—an inherently vague and undefined term that invites arbitrary decision-making.

Further, the Proposed Rules, in a redundant fashion, focus almost exclusively on a variety of environmental and ecological elements, while ignoring traditional public land uses. These changes are one-sided and biased against the principal or major land uses identified in FLPMA, such as grazing, mineral exploration and development, rights-of-way, timber production, and outdoor recreation. *See* 43 U.S.C. § 1702(1) (defining "principal or major uses"). The elements chosen by the BLM appear designed to justify the exclusion of these land and resource uses and to support the Interior Department's climate change and mitigation policies.

Detailed comments are provided in Table 1, entitled Comparison of Current § 1610.4-4 and Proposed § 1610.4(c) Planning Elements, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference. As discussed in Table 1, a number of the changes in the planning elements are inappropriate and highlight the BLM's attempt to alter the focus of land use planning under FLPMA Section 202 from multiple use to land preservation. This is a significant and substantive policy change, which undermines the BLM's assertion (in claiming that the Proposed Rules are categorically excluded from NEPA) that these rules are "entirely procedural in nature."

The most obvious example of the BLM's policy shift is the agency's dismissal of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act in the Proposed Rules, including the new planning elements. As explained in attached Table 1, FLPMA states as a policy that "the public lands be managed in a manner which recognizes the Nation's need for domestic sources of minerals, food, timber, and fiber from the public lands including implementation of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (84 Stat. 1876, 30 U.S.C. 21a) as it pertains to the public lands." 43 U.S.C. § 1701(a)(12). Yet the BLM has omitted this statute.

In the Mining and Mineral Policy Act, Congress declared:

[I]t is the continuing policy of the Federal Government in the national interest to foster and encourage private enterprise in

- (1) the development of economically sound and stable domestic mining, minerals, metal and mineral reclamation industries,
- (2) the orderly and economic development of domestic mineral resources, reserves, and reclamation of metals and minerals to help assure satisfaction of industrial, security and environmental needs,
- (3) mining, mineral, and metallurgical research, including the use and recycling of scrap to promote the wise and efficient use of our natural and reclaimable mineral resources, and
- (4) the study and development of methods for the disposal, control, and reclamation of mineral waste products, and the reclamation of mined land, so as to lessen any adverse impact of mineral extraction and processing upon the physical environment that may result from mining or mineral activities.

30 U.S.C. § 21a (additional spacing added for clarity). The Mining and Mineral Policy Act also provides: "It shall be the responsibility of the Secretary of the Interior to carry out this policy when exercising his authority under such programs as may be authorized by law other than this section." Id. (emphasis added). By expressly referencing the Act six years later in FLPMA, Congress clearly intended that the Act be emphasized in connection with public land planning and management.

Moreover, in 1980, Congress enacted the National Materials and Minerals Policy, Research and Development Act, codified at 30 U.S.C. § 1601 *et seq*. In that Act, Congress declared:

[I]t is the continuing policy of the United States to promote an adequate and stable supply of materials necessary to maintain national security, economic well-being and industrial production, with appropriate attention to a long-term balance between resource production, energy use, a healthy environment, natural resources conservation, and social needs.

30 U.S.C. § 1602. The term "materials" is defined as "substances, including minerals, of current or potential use that will be needed to supply the industrial, military, and essential civilian needs of the United States in the production of goods or services." Among other things, the Act directs the President to

- "identify materials needs and assist in the pursuit of measures that would assure the availability of materials critical to commerce, the economy, and national security;"
- "promote and encourage private enterprise in the development of economically sound and stable domestic materials industries;" and
- "encourage Federal agencies to facilitate availability and development of domestic resources to meet critical materials needs."

Id. at § 1602(1), (6), (7). To accomplish these purpose, the Act directs the President to coordinate the responsible executive departments and agencies and requires the President to "direct that the responsible departments and agencies identify, assist, and make recommendations for carrying out appropriate policies and programs to ensure adequate, stable, and economical materials supplies essential to national security, economic well-being, and industrial production," in addition to taking other action to further the Act's policies. *Id.* at § 1603(1).

Finally, the Act concludes by again emphasizing the Interior Department's obligation to comply with and implement the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970, stating:

Nothing in this Act shall be interpreted as changing in any manner or degree the provisions of and requirements of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (30 U.S.C. 21a). For the purposes of achieving the objectives set forth in section 3 of this Act, the Congress declares that the President shall direct (1) the Secretary of the Interior to act immediately within the Department's statutory authority to attain the goals contained in the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (30 U.S.C. 21a) and (2) the Executive Office of the President to act immediately to promote the goals contained in the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (30 U.S.C. 21a) among the various departments and agencies.

30 U.S.C. § 1605 (emphasis added).

Despite the plain language of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act and the enactment of two subsequent laws—one of which is FLPMA itself—emphasizing the Act, the BLM has ignored it in the Proposed Rules. Moreover, it is apparent that this was done deliberately.

In the preamble to the Proposed Rules, the BLM stated that it is proposing changes to current § 1601.0–2, called "objectives," "to revise the stated objectives of resource management planning to reflect FLPMA and remove vague or inaccurate language." 81 Fed. Reg. 9683. The BLM also claimed that it is eliminating vague and inappropriate language from the current § 1601.0–2 and substituting language "to be consistent with FLPMA," in many cases directly quoting from FLPMA. The BLM explained:

The BLM proposes to add an additional objective of resource management planning to the regulations, which is to "ensure that the public lands be managed in a manner that will protect the quality of scientific, scenic, historical, ecological, environmental, air and atmospheric, water resource, and archeological values; that, where appropriate, will preserve and protect certain public lands in their natural condition; that will provide for outdoor recreation and human use, *and which recognizes the Nation's need for domestic sources of minerals, food, timber, and fiber from the public lands*." This proposed change would incorporate language from FLPMA (see 43 U.S.C. 1701(a)(8) and (a)(12)) to identify in the planning regulations the general management objectives that apply to the public lands and therefore apply to all resource management plans. While this is a change in the regulations, it would simply affirm statutory direction and not change existing practice or policy.

81 Fed. Reg. 9684 (emphasis added). The italicized phrase "and which recognizes the Nation's need for domestic sources of minerals, food, timber, and fiber from the public lands" comes directly from FLPMA Section 102(a)(12), as stated by the BLM. However, this provision, in its entirety, states:

The Congress declares that it is the policy of the United States that—

. . .

(12) the public lands be managed in a manner which recognizes the Nation's need for domestic sources of minerals, food, timber, and fiber from the public lands *including implementation of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (84 Stat. 1876, 30 U.S.C. 21a) as it pertains to the public lands;*

(Emphasis added.) Thus, the BLM omitted the second half of FLPMA Section 102(a)(12) because it requires implementation of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act.

In short, Congress deliberately and specifically referred to the Mining and Minerals Policy Act in its declaration of policy in FLPMA. The Act requires the Interior Secretary "to foster and encourage private enterprise in . . . the development of economically sound and stable domestic mining, minerals, metal and mineral reclamation industries," and to promote "the orderly and economic development of domestic mineral resources [and] reserves." These requirements were reinforced in the Minerals Policy, Research and Development Act of 1980, which required the Interior Secretary "to act immediately within the Department's statutory authority to attain the goals contained in the Mining and Minerals Policy Act." Yet the BLM has deliberately ignored the Mining and Minerals Policy Act in the Proposed Rules. This is a telling

omission, highlighting the BLM's shift away from traditional land and resource uses on the public lands, notwithstanding clear statutory direction to promote mining and mineral development. Instead, the planning assessment rule emphasizes "areas that increase the ability of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems within the planning area to adapt to, resist, or recover from change" —whatever that means—and focus on "ecological services" rather than mining, oil and gas production, grazing, and other traditional public land uses. In other words, the new planning elements will implement the Interior Department's climate change and mitigation programs.

C. BLM's Definition of "High Quality Information" Conflicts with BLM Policy and Would Allow the Use of Questionable Data.

Information is critical to sound land use planning and management. For that reason, Congress has required the Secretary of the Interior:

... to prepare and maintain on a continuing basis an inventory of all public lands and their resource and other values (including, but not limited to, outdoor recreation and scenic values) giving priority to areas of critical environmental concern. This inventory shall be kept current so as to reflect changes in conditions and to identify new and emerging resource and other values. The preparation and maintenance of such inventory or the identification of such areas shall not, of itself, change or prevent change of the management or use of public lands.

43 U.S.C. § 1711(a). This ongoing inventory provides the baseline information that is utilized in public land use planning and management, evidenced by Congress' placement of the statute at the outset of Title II, Land Use Planning, Land Acquisition and Disposition, of FLPMA. In addition to preparing and maintaining an inventory on a continuing basis, BLM has an obligation to coordinate the land use inventory with the land use planning and management programs of State and local governments. *Id.* at § 1712(c)(9).

The Proposed Rules fail to reference inventory data and simply provides that the "BLM will use high quality information to inform the preparation, amendment, and maintenance of resource management plans." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.1-1(c) (proposed). The BLM defines "high quality information" as:

... any representation of knowledge such as facts or data, including the best available scientific information, which is accurate, reliable, and unbiased, is not compromised through corruption or falsification, and is useful to its intended user.

43 C.F.R. § 1601.0-5 (proposed). This vague and open-ended definition is not consistent with FLPMA, other existing laws, and BLM policy, as explained below. The outcome will be that "citizen science" will be allowed to play an improper role in agency decision-making. Essentially, what the BLM has done in crafting this definition is to borrow a perfectly sound term of art from NEPA (i.e., "high quality information") and water it down to include suspect representations of knowledge (e.g., "gray" literature and "traditional ecological knowledge") for use in land use planning by picking and choosing select elements of policies developed in

conjunction with the Information Quality Act (IQA), codified at 44 U.S.C. §§ 3504(d)(1) and 3516.

Existing federal laws governing data quality include the IQA (also known as the Data Quality Act) and NEPA. The BLM's Proposed Rules fall short of complying with either. The IQA required the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) to issue guidance to federal agencies designed to ensure the "quality, objectivity, utility, and integrity" of information disseminated to the public. It also required agencies to issue their own information quality guidelines, and to establish administrative mechanisms that allow affected persons to seek correction of information maintained and disseminated by the agencies that does not comply with the OMB guidance.

The OMB guidelines were published in 2002. See Guidelines for Ensuring and Maximizing the Quality, Objectivity, Utility, and Integrity of Information and Disseminated by Federal Agencies, 67 Fed. Reg. 8452 (Feb. 22, 2002). Among other things, the OMB Guidelines define "quality" as an "encompassing term" comprised of "comprising utility, objectivity, and integrity." *Id.* at 8459. The term "utility" refers to the usefulness of the information "to its intended users, including the public," ensuring that "the agency take care to ensure that transparency has been addressed in its review of the information." *Id.* "Integrity" means the "security of the information is not compromised through corruption or falsification." *Id.* Finally, the term "objectivity" "involves a focus on ensuring accurate, reliable, and unbiased information." In a scientific context, "the original and supporting data shall be generated, and the analytic results shall be developed, using sound statistical and research methods." *Id.*

Notably, where information being disseminated by an agency is determined to be "influential," i.e., "the information will have or does have a clear and substantial impact on important public policies or important private sector decisions," these standards are heightened, requiring a "reproducibility by qualified third parties." *Id.* at 8460. This heightened standard will apply, for example, to landscape-scale REAs, which focus on "eco-regions" and are prepared by "Landscape Conservation Cooperatives" whose members are likely to be biased against traditional public land uses.

Consistent with the IQA and OMB direction, the BLM has adopted its own information quality guidelines. *See U.S. Bureau of Land Management, Information Quality Guidelines* (updated 2012) (hereafter BLM Guidelines).¹⁶ The BLM's definition of "high quality information" in the Proposed Rules must be consistent with these data quality requirements.

The BLM Guidelines adopt the principle of using the "best available" information in decision-making, which includes "considering the data available weighted against needed resources and delay to collect new information and the value of newer information." BLM Guidelines at $\S 2(c)$. The BLM Guidelines also clarify that where information is voluntarily

¹⁶ Available at

http://www.blm.gov/style/medialib/blm/national/national_page.Par.7549.File.dat/guidelines.pdf (visited April 10, 2016).

submitted in hopes of "influencing a decision or that BLM obtains for use in developing a policy or regulatory decision, BLM will disclose what it knows of the quality of this type of information and why it is being relied on." Id. at § 2(d).

BLM's Guidelines also define "influential information" as "information that which is expected to have a clear and substantial impact at the national level for major public and private policy decisions as they relate to Federal public lands and resource issues." *Id.* at § 2(b). Examples of "influential information" include "information disseminated in support of top BLM actions (i.e., substantive notices, policy documents, studies, guidance) that demand the ongoing involvement of the Director's office" and "information used in cross-bureau issues that have the potential to result in major cross-bureau policies and highly controversial information that is used to advance the BLM's priorities." *Id.*

The BLM is subject to these requirements in conducting and maintaining its inventory of the public lands and their resources pursuant to FLPMA Section 201. Moreover, any data and information received by the BLM in connection with developing and implementing land use plans pursuant to FLPMA Section 202 are also subject to these requirements, including the BLM's "best available" information standard. Land use plans and amendments clearly have a substantial impact on decisions regarding the use of public lands by other federal agencies and private parties. Accordingly, land use plans contain "influential information" and should be subject to the heightened standard of replicability applicable to such information.

Data quality standards are similar under NEPA. The CEQ regulations refer to the "scientific integrity" of information that agencies use in an EIS, for example. Specifically, the CEQ regulations direct that:

Agencies shall insure the professional integrity, including scientific integrity, of the discussions and analyses in an EIS. They shall identify any methodologies used and shall make explicit reference by footnote to the scientific and other sources relied upon for conclusions in the statement.

40 C.F.R. § 1502.24. Under NEPA, federal agencies are also required to use a "systematic, interdisciplinary approach" to ensure "the integrated use of the natural and social sciences and the environmental design arts in planning and in decision making which may have an impact on man's environment." 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(A). Information included in an EIS must "be of high quality" and allow for "[a]ccurate scientific analysis, expert agency comments, and public scrutiny." 40 C.F.R. § 1500(1)(b). The BLM must utilize these standards, in conjunction with the OMB and BLM Guidelines, to ensure compliance with NEPA in land use planning and management, including the adoption of land use plans and implementation strategies.

To comply with the foregoing requirements, the following definition of "high quality information" should be substituted for the proposed definition in § 1601.0-5 of the Proposed Rules:

High quality information means data and other information that is comprised of the best available scientific and commercial data; is of high quality, accurate, reliable, complete, unbiased, and is not compromised through corruption or falsification; is useful to its intended user; and can be replicated by qualified third parties. High quality information may include information voluntarily submitted by Federal agencies, State and local governments, Indian tribes, and the public which satisfies the foregoing criteria and is subject to the Deciding Official's transparent disclosure of the quality of the information and justification for reliance thereon.

This definition incorporates the "best scientific and commercial data available" standard used in the Endangered Species Act (*see*, *e.g.*, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1533(b)(1)(A), 1533(b)(2), and 1536(a)(2)) and includes all relevant concepts from the IQA and the OMB and BLM Guidelines on information quality.

D. The Protest Standard is Being Improperly Narrowed

Presently, any person who participates in the preparation of a land use plan or amendment and has an interest which may be adversely affected by its approval or amendment may protest an approved plan or amendment. *See* 43 C.F.R. § 1610.5-2.(a). This will not change under the Proposed Rules. What will change, however, is what constitutes a valid protest.

Under the current rule, filed protests can include "any issue or issues that were submitted during the planning process by the protesting party" and must include "a concise statement explaining what the State Director's decision is believed to be wrong." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.5-2 (a)(2)(v). In contrast, under the Proposed Rules, protests must "identify *the plan component(s)* believed to be inconsistent with Federal laws or regulations applicable to public lands, or the purposes, policies and programs of such laws and regulations." 43 C.F.R. § 1610.6-2 Unbelievably, the BLM contends this is "not a change from existing practice or policy." 81 Fed. Reg. 9715.

Plans and amendments under the Proposed Rules will be comprised of plan components (including goals, objectives, designations, resource use determinations, monitoring and evaluation standards, and lands identified for disposal). The narrowing of the protest criteria to "plan components" apparently eliminates the ability of the public to protest: (i) the planning area boundary determination; (ii) factors and information deemed relevant in the planning assessment; (iii) the BLM's compliance with its own procedural rules in conjunction with carrying out the planning process; (iv) the BLM's compliance with federal laws such as FLPMA itself, NEPA, the Endangered Species Act, and the National Historic Preservation Act; and (v) the implementation strategies, which, as discussed above, may dictate how future land uses are conducted. Even more disconcerting is the fact that these new protest criteria will increase the likelihood of dismissal. The BLM Director will simply be able to assert any purpose, policy or program adopted by the BLM outside of a formal rulemaking process as justification for denial.

The BLM claims the purposes of these changes are to "help the BLM to identify, understand, and respond thoughtfully to valid protest issues," and to "focus the BLM Director's attention on aspects of a proposed resource management plan that may be inconsistent with legal requirements or policies." *Id.* This assertion is nothing more than a rationalization for limiting

the ability of aggrieved parties to challenge flawed land use plans, while simultaneously increasing agency discretion. Furthermore, the new protest standard is inconsistent with Congress' policy statement that the Secretary must "structure adjudication procedures to assure adequate third party participation, objective administrative review of initial decisions, and expeditious decisionmaking." 43 U.S.C. § 1701(a)(5).

In short, the new protest standard should be removed from the final planning rules. If not removed, then the BLM should clarify that all of the above referenced agency actions are final and that there is no attendant requirement to exhaust administrative remedies before pursuing judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act (we strongly suspect that the BLM will argue otherwise if a legal challenge is made). *See* 43 U.S.C. § 1701(a)(6) (stating that it is the policy of the United States that "judicial review of public land adjudication decisions be provided by law"). In the alternative, the protest procedures existing in the current rule should be restored.

Table 1

Comparison of Current § 1610.4-4 and Proposed § 1610.4(c) Planning Elements

COMMENTS ON THE BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT'S PROPOSED RESOURCE MANAGEMENT PLANNING RULES

Table 1—Comparison of Current § 1610.4-4 and Proposed § 1610.4(c) Planning Elements

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
(a) The types of resource use and protection authorized by the Federal Land Policy and Management Act and other relevant legislation.	(1) Resource management authorized by FLPMA and other relevant authorities.	The meaning of "other relevant authorities" is vague and significantly changes the meaning of the existing rule, allowing directives and guidance documents to be considered. As discussed in the comments, these directives are often of questionable validity because they have not undergone NEPA review and coordination and consistency review under FLPMA § 202(c)(9), and may constitute "rules" that were adopted without compliance with the Administrative Procedure Act.
		At a minimum, "other relevant authorities" should be specifically identified so that these authorities are disclosed to the public.
(b) Opportunities to meet goals and objectives defined in national and State Director guidance.	Eliminated	This change is inappropriate. As noted in the preamble, under proposed § 1610.4(a)(2), the Responsible Official must "[i]dentify relevant national, regional, or local policies, guidance, strategies or plans for consideration in the planning assessment." Given that these policies and guidance must be considered in the planning assessment, there is no reason not to address opportunities to meet their goals and objectives. This will foster full disclosure to the public and ensure transparent process.
(c) Resource demand forecasts and analyses relevant to the resource area.	Substantially eliminated—see discussion below on new element (c)(7).	See comments below on new element (c)(7).

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
(d) The estimated sustained levels of the various goods, services and uses that may be attained under existing biological and physical conditions and under differing management practices and degrees of management intensity which are economically viable under benefit cost or cost effectiveness standards prescribed in national or State Director guidance.	 (7) The various goods and services, including ecological services, that people obtain from the planning area such as: (i) The degree of local, regional, national, or international importance of these goods and services; (ii) Available forecasts and analyses related to the supply and demand for these goods and services; and (iii) The estimated levels of these goods and serviced on a sustained yield basis. 	These changes are inappropriate. First, they improperly marginalize the degree of local importance/dependence on use of resources in the planning area. This change is consistent with the agency's improper de-emphasis on the "principal or major uses" of the public lands, as reflected in FLPMA. <i>See</i> 43 U.S.C. § 1702(<i>l</i>). As written, the local or regional importance of resource uses in the planning area can be ignored in favor of national or even international considerations (as evidenced by the use of "or") in the element (c)(7)(i). Second, the BLM is deliberately confusing the public by eliminating "use" and "uses" and instead using "goods and services." Throughout FLPMA, Congress referred to land uses and "land use plans," not "goods and services" or "goods and services plans." The preamble's discussion that land uses are subsumed in the phrase "goods and services" (<i>see</i> pp. 9708) is nonsense. Very few persons would regard "goods and services" as a reference to land uses. Rather than being more precise, the BLM is making the planning process vaguer and more difficult to understand. This in turn invites agency employees to downplay traditional land and resources uses, and focus on murky concepts such as "ecosystem services," which are poorly understood and impossible to accurately quantify, inviting arbitrary decision-making.

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
(e) Specific requirements and constraints to achieve consistency with policies, plans and programs of other Federal agencies, State and local government agencies and Indian tribes.	Eliminated	This change is inappropriate. As discussed in the first section of the comments, it is important, through coordination, to identify the land use plans, policies and programs of Federal agencies, State and local government agencies and Indian tribes at the outset of the planning process, and to identify any constraints and limitations they may impose to comply with FLPMA § 202(c)(9).
		Presumably, for this reason, proposed § 1610.4(a)(1) <u>requires</u> the BLM to " <u>[i]dentify relevant national, regional, or local policies, guidance, strategies or plans for consideration in the planning <u>assessment</u>" (emphasis added). Thus, the BLM would be required to identify "policies, guidance, strategies or plans" of State and local governments. There is no point in identifying these State and local policies, strategies and plans if they are then ignored.</u>
		The preamble states that this element is not necessary because the BLM will not be developing resource management alternatives at this stage of the process (p. 9709). This assertion is illogical; it is important to be aware of other land use plans, policies, and programs that may impact the BLM's planning process so that when alternatives are developed, conflicts can be avoided or minimized to the maximum extent practical.

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
(f) Opportunities to resolve public issues and management concerns.	Eliminated	This change is inappropriate. Presumably, the BLM, by virtue of its continuing inventory and other management activities, is aware of certain public issues and concerns. Current §1610.4-4 states: "The Field Manager, in collaboration with any cooperating agencies, will analyze the inventory data and other information available to determine the ability of the resource area to respond to identified issues and opportunities."
		Thus, under the current rules, opportunities to address these issues and concerns are disclosed.
		By eliminating this information from the planning assessment, the BLM is making the process less open. The public should be advised of important issues and concerns at the beginning of the process. Moreover, addressing issues and concerns in the planning assessment will ensure that they are addressed during the development of alternatives.
(g) Degree of local dependence on resources from public lands.	Eliminated	This change is inappropriate. See comment above on new element (c)(7).
(h) The extent of coal lands which may be further considered under provisions of §3420.2-3(a) of this title.	Eliminated	This change is appropriate as this information in not needed.

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
(i) Critical threshold levels which should be considered in the formulation of planned alternatives	(4) Known resource thresholds, constraints, or limitations.	On its face, this change does not appear to add anything. However, the preamble discussion (pp. 9707-08) suggests that the change in language is intended to restrict or limit the principal or major land uses identified in FLPMA, such as grazing, mineral exploration and development, rights-of-way, timber production, and outdoor recreation. <i>See</i> 43 U.S.C. § 1702(<i>l</i>) (defining "principal or major uses"). Similarly, FLPMA states as a policy that "the public lands be managed in a manner which recognizes the Nation's need for domestic sources of minerals, food, timber, and fiber from the public lands including implementation of the Mining and Minerals Policy Act of 1970 (84 Stat. 1876, 30 U.S.C. 21a) as it pertains to the public lands." 43 U.S.C. § 1701(a)(12). The preamble discussion is clearly one-sided and biased against traditional resources uses, evidencing a significant substantive shift in BLM land use planning and management.
Not in current rule.	(2) Land status and ownership, existing resource uses, infrastructure, and access patterns in the planning area.	This change is appropriate as this information is necessary to develop the plan.
Not in current rule.	(3) Current resource, environmental, ecological, social, and economic conditions, and any known trends related to these conditions.	This change is also appropriate as this information is necessary to develop the plan.

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
Not in current rule.	 (5) Areas of potential importance within the planning area, including: (i) Areas of tribal, traditional, or cultural importance; (ii) Habitat for special status species, including State and/or federally-listed threatened and endangered species; (iii) Other areas of key fish and wildlife habitat such as big game wintering and summer areas, bird nesting and feeding areas, habitat connectivity or wildlife migration corridors, and areas of large and intact habitat; (iv) Areas of ecological importance, such as areas that increase the ability of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems within the planning area to adapt to, resist, or recover from change; (v) Lands with wilderness characteristics, candidate wild and scenic rivers, or areas of significant scenic value; (vi) Areas of significant historical value, including paleontological sites; 	 and management. The following should be added: 1. Areas used or capable of being used for domestic livestock grazing, including range condition and carrying capacity, and programs that can be undertaken to increase forage production and improve range conditions.

Analysis of Management Situation Current Rules – 1610.4-4	Planning Assessment Proposed Rules – 1610.4(c)	Comments
	 (vii) Existing designations located in the planning area, such as wilderness, wilderness study areas, wild and scenic rivers, national scenic or historic trails, or ACECs; (viii) Areas with potential for renewable or non-renewable energy development or energy transmission; (ix) Areas of importance for recreation activities or access; (x) Areas of importance for public health and safety, such as abandoned mine lands or natural hazards; 	 Areas with active oil and gas exploration and production, and areas with known and potential reserves, and steps that can be taken to facilitate or increase oil and gas production. Areas with commercial- grade timber, including areas with current or historic timber production, and steps that can be taken to facilitate or increase timber production.
Not in current rule.	(6) Dominant ecological processes, disturbance regimes, and stressors, such as drought, wildland fire, invasive species, and climate change.	This element is vague and redundant. An evaluation of current ecological trends and conditions is required under element $(c)(3)$, which necessarily requires consideration of ecological processes.

EXHIBIT A

PARTICIPANTS IN 2.0 COALITION

<u>Arizona</u>

Apache County, Arizona

Apache County, Arizona is located in the northeastern corner of Arizona and is historically comprised of timber, livestock grazing and other cultural and historic uses. Although only 9% is BLM managed land, we are encumbered with 89% untaxable land mass, making the activities of extra territorial entities impactful to our societal and economic wellbeing.

Arizona Association of Conservation Districts, Arizona

The Arizona Association of Conservation Districts (AACD) is a non-profit organization whose mission is to provide support for Arizona's 42 Conservation Districts. Each district was legislatively created as sub-divisions of the State of Arizona and is governed by boards of elected officials.

Each district provides expertise for the restoration and conservation of land and soil resources of the state, the preservation of water rights and the control and prevention of soil erosion. We are charged by the Legislature to conserve natural resources and wildlife, protect the tax base, protect public lands, and protect and restore Arizona's rivers, streams and associated riparian habitats. These riparian areas include fish and wildlife resources dependent on those habitats with our ultimate goal to protect and promote the public health, safety and general welfare of the people.

The AACD provides training, education and partnership opportunities, which include supporting coordination in Arizona. Many members of our Executive Board are leaders in various conservation districts that utilize coordination. Because of their leadership and the effectiveness of coordination, other districts are planning on implementing coordination. For these and many more reasons, the AACD has joined the 2.0 Coalition.

Big Sandy Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona

The Big Sandy Natural Resource Conservation District, a local district of Arizona state government, organized under State Statue ARS 37 Chapter 6, is governed by locally elected and appointed officials.

This state recognizes the special expertise of the districts in the fields of land, soil, water and natural resources management within the boundaries of the district. ARS 37-1054. Any federal rules and regulations directly affect our ability to perform our duties as defined by the Arizona State Legislature and is critical to our future.

Hereford Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona

The Hereford Natural Resource Conservation District (HNRCD) is a local district of Arizona state government organized under State (ARS §37 Chapter 6). Arizona recognizes the special expertise of the districts to include land, soil, water and natural resources management within the boundaries of the district (ARS §37-1054). The District consists of 594,762 total acres, of which 81,533 is BLM land. The district is located in the southeast Arizona of Cochise County next to the U.S./Mexico Border. The District Board of Supervisors is an elected board with the responsibility of determining resource conservation needs within its boundaries, developing and coordinating long range plans and programs for natural resource conservation, implementing those plans and programs under the District's long range plan, and annual plan of work. The District works with and coordinates its efforts with Federal, State and local governments, organizations, agencies and individuals to accomplish soil, water and species conservation.

Willcox-San Simon Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona

The Willcox-San Simon Natural Resource Conservation District (NRCD) is one of 32 Districts in the State of Arizona. The Willcox-San Simon NRCD has 2.1 million acres of agricultural land within its District boundary. Of those 2.1 million acres, 635,277 is federally owned with BLM land being 317,356 of those acres. As such, our District is directly affected by the proposed changes in the BLM's Resource Management Planning. The Willcox-San Simon NRCD has a vested interest in federal land issues and the impacts within our District and local economy.

Winkelman Natural Resource Conservation District, Arizona

The Winkelman District encompasses 1.6 million acres of land that includes parts of four Arizona counties. Nearly half is private and state trust lands with the balance being BLM lands within two national forests. The District is all rural with copper mining the major employer and tax base with ranching and farming coming in second. There are five small towns and five rural school districts within our boundaries.

Our District is charged with coordinating with federal and state agencies concerning all land, soil, water and natural resources management within the boundaries of our district and any changes, alterations or amendments to any federal land use plans or programs are critical to our ability to provide such expertise.

California

Modoc County, California

Modoc County is located in the far northeastern corner of California with one incorporated city, Alturas, as the county seat. It contains about 2.5 million acres, of which approximately 70 percent is federally managed and another 20 percent is dependent on federal water projects for its production. The county has about 9,000 people and no stoplights. The primary industry is agriculture with ranchers dependent on nearly 2 million acres of BLM land in both California and Nevada for forage. Citizens also depend heavily on this land for firewood harvesting, flat rock collecting and outdoor recreation. The management of BLM land is critical for the wellbeing of the county's economy and its citizens. Therefore, it is very important that Modoc County maintain its ability to have productive engagement and discussions with the BLM in the decision making process regarding their projects and policies.

Modoc County Cattlemen's Association, California

The Modoc County Cattlemen's Association is a non-profit association that represents beef producers and their supporters in Modoc County, California. The vast majority of its members utilize federal range as an essential part of their livestock operation. Its members graze BLM rangeland in the Applegate (formerly Alturas and Surprise) and Eagle Lake Field Offices. This includes over two million acres in northeastern California and northwestern Nevada. They utilize several existing entities to engage in BLM planning including the Modoc-Washoe Experimental Stewardship Program, the Northern California Resource Advisory Council and the Public Lands Council. They depend heavily upon the coordination utilized by Modoc County with the BLM to protect their interests in accessing their needed forage. Consequently, they have a vested interest in how BLM manages the resources on which they depend for their livelihood.

Colorado

Garfield County, Colorado

Garfield County is located in western Colorado. Its county seat and largest city is Glenwood Springs. Garfield County is predominately rural with an estimated population of about 60,000 people. It contains nearly 1.9 million acres of land, of which approximately 60 percent is federally owned, including more than 600,000 acres of public land managed by the BLM. Garfield County's economy and its citizens depend on the use of this land for oil and gas development and production, mining and mineral production, ranching, and outdoor recreation. Natural resource development, specifically natural gas and, prospectively, oil shale, has also had a significant economic impact on Garfield County over the last decade. The county is home to the extremely productive Piceance Basin, which is estimated to contain between 200-300 trillion cubic feet of proven natural gas reserves. Garfield County is also located in the Green River formation, estimated to contain 1-1.5 trillion barrels of oil, which is up to three times the proven

reserves of Saudi Arabia. A large portion of these natural resources are located on BLM land in Garfield County. Not only are these resources a considerable economic driver for the local, state and national economies, but they also provide a critical tax base for the County, our cities and special districts that provide essential services to our citizens. Consequently, the manner in which the BLM manages public land, and Garfield County's ability to meaningfully participate in the development of BLM land use programs, regulations, and decisions, is extremely important.

<u>Idaho</u>

Custer County, Idaho

Custer County is a rural county located in central Idaho. Its estimated population is about 4,300 citizens. Its county seat and largest city is Challis. Custer County contains 4,938 square miles of land, of which 97 percent is owned by the federal government. Custer County's economy and its citizens depend on this land for ranching, outdoor recreation, mining and mineral production, and related activities. Therefore, the manner in which the BLM manages public lands is extremely important to Custer County.

New Mexico

Chaves County, New Mexico

Chaves County is the number one agricultural producing county in the State of New Mexico. The County is located in southeastern New Mexico. Chaves County contains over 3.8 million acres of land, of which 34% is federal land. Agriculture is the number one industry in Chaves County. The agriculture industry consists of ranching, farming, dairies and cheese production. The County also has a considerable oil and gas presence. The agriculture industry and oil and gas industry drive the economy in Chaves County. BLM rules and regulations have a major impact on our economy. Therefore, Chaves County must have the ability to significantly participate in planning for and management of these lands.

Eddy County, New Mexico

Eddy County is located in southeastern New Mexico. Its county seat and largest city is Carlsbad. Eddy is a predominately rural county. Its estimated population is about 57,580 persons. It is also home to Carlsbad Caverns National Park in the Guadalupe Mountains. The county contains 2,675,200 acres of land, of which approximately 60 percent is federally owned, including approximately 1.373 million acres of public land managed by the BLM. Eddy County's economy and its citizens depend on the use of this land for oil and gas development and production, mining and mineral production, nuclear energy repositories, ranching, and outdoor recreation. Natural resource development, specifically oil and gas, has had a significant economic impact on Eddy County over the last decade. Consequently, the manner in which the BLM manages public land, and Eddy County's ability to meaningfully participate in the development of BLM land use programs, regulations, and decisions, is extremely important.

Hidalgo County, New Mexico

Hidalgo County, New Mexico is the southernmost county of the State of New Mexico created in 1919 by the State Legislature. Our county is named for the town north of Mexico City where the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo was signed. There is a total area of 3,446 square miles of which 3,437 square miles is land and 9.1 square miles is water. The southern part of the County, which is bounded on the East and the South by Mexico, is known as the Boot Heel. Federal acreage of Hidalgo County is 882,679; State acreage of Hidalgo County is 354,431 acres; and U.S. Forest Service land is 77,200 acres. Any federal actions dealing with land use directly affects our County and is extremely important to our economic wellbeing.

Luna County, New Mexico

Luna County, New Mexico is located on the southern border of the state with Deming as the county seat. Luna County's population is 24,659 and is considered high desert. Luna County contains the Florida Mountain Range, the Tres Hermanas (Three Sisters) Mountains and home to the Butterfield Stage Pony Express. The town of Columbus was where Pancho Villa invaded the United States in the late 1800's and Deming is where the silver spike was driven in 1881 joining the Second Transcontinental Railroad. A significant portion of Luna County is owned by the federal government, including the Bureau of Land Management and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Any plans or policies promulgated by these and other federal agencies directly affect the economic wellbeing of our County.

The county seat is in Deming, NM.

Otero County, New Mexico

Otero County, New Mexico is located in the southern most area of the state with Texas as its southern border. The county seat is Alamogordo and total population of the county is 63,797. Otero County has a total area of 6,628 square miles, of which 6,613 square miles is land and 14 square miles (0.2%) is water. It is the third-largest county in New Mexico by area, but only 12 percent of its land is taxable mainly because of all the federal holdings. Therefore, Otero County must be involved with any management of federal lands within our County.

Chaves Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

The Chaves SWCD is geographically located in the center and northwestern portion of Chaves County and eastern and northeastern Lincoln County.

Sections 73-20-25 through 73-20-48 NMSA 1978 is the summary description of the New Mexico Soil and Water Conservation District Act (Act). The Chaves Soil and Water Conservation District (District or CSWCD) is the administrative body responsible for the dictates

of the law in partial areas of Chaves, and Lincoln, Counties. CSWCD was formed circa 1965 and there are 2,142,610 acres within CSWCD boundaries.

The District is a governmental subdivision of the state, a public body politic and corporate. The Board of Supervisors (Board) is charged with matters affecting soil erosion and flood water and sediment damage. As such, the duties of the Board include the coordination of matters of research, investigations, and surveys with government agencies.

The results should be published and disseminated along with remedies and control measures related to such findings.

The District will coordinate projects on the land with federal, state, and local agencies for such remedy and enhancement of the resource base. The District is charged with assisting, contracting, and rendering financial aid to the stakeholder community.

Chaves SWCD's land status breakdown includes 1,128,791 acres private ownership the remaining acreage is under public land management. Federal land managers include Bureau of Land Management with 698,179 acres, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service with 20,499 acres, Department of Defense with 3,187 acres, State Parks with 1,491 acres and the State Land Office with 290,462 acres for a total of 2,142,610 acres.

Therefore, it is critical that the development of the resource management plan for the BLM lands is conducted in a manner that allows full and meaningful government to government interaction between BLM and the Chaves Soil and Water Conservation District in a mutual effort to provide reasonable assurance to the state of New Mexico that (1) it's natural resources are managed in a manner consistent with local land use plans, (2) its federal lands ranchers, will have the ability to protect their investment and operate a sustainably viable ranching operation into the future and (3) historical recreational access to these public lands will always be honored.

Coronado Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

The Coronado Soil and Water Conservation District (SWCD) is geographically located in the eastern part of Sandoval County, New Mexico. SWCDs are independent subdivisions of state government governed by locally elected and appointed supervisors, and are authorized by the NM Soil and Water Conservation District Act [NMSA 1978 sections 73-20-25 – 73-20-48] to conserve and develop the natural resources of the state, provide for flood control, preserve wildlife, protect the tax base and promote the health, safety and general welfare of the people of New Mexico. Under the Act, the Coronado SWCD is charged with matters affecting soil erosion and flood water and sediment damage. As such, the duties of the Board include the coordination of research, investigations and surveys with government agencies.

Within the boundaries of Coronado SWCD there are several jurisdictions of governance, including the Town of Bernalillo and the unincorporated communities of Placitas and Algodones. The Pueblos of Santa Ana, San Felipe, Santo Domingo, Cochiti and most of Sandia are also within the SWCD's boundaries. The western boundaries of the Pueblos are the western boundaries of Coronado SWCD.

Consonant with the Coronado SWCD's cultural diversity, there is a complex pattern of state, federal, tribal and private land ownership and jurisdiction. Coronado's land status breakdown includes 73,721 acres (19.44%) private ownership and 242,462 acres (63.94%) under tribal jurisdiction. The remaining acreage is under public land management. Federal land managers include the following: Forest Service with 32,602 acres (8.59%), Bureau of Land Management with 18,135 acres (4.78%), Department of Defense with 2,202 acres (0.58%), and National Park Service with two acres (0.00052%). State public lands consist of the State Land Office with 9,951 acres (2.62%) and NM State Parks with 118 acres (0.031%) for a grand total of 379,191 acres.

Although the relative portion of acreage under BLM jurisdiction within the Coronado SWCD is fairly small in comparison with that of other jurisdictions, especially tribal lands, the Coronado SWCD has an ongoing cooperative relationship with BLM concerning several important issues, including watershed health and grazing issues. Government to government coordination and cooperation with respect to these and other issues is essential to the health and well-being of the SWCD's residents and environment.

Dona Ana Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

Dona Ana Soil and Water Conservation District is located in south-central New Mexico within the boundaries of Dona Ana County. Soil and Water Conservation Districts are independent subdivisions of state government governed by locally elected and appointed supervisors. The District is authorized by the New Mexico Soil and Water Conservation District Act (73-20-25 through 73-20-48 NMSA 1978) to conserve and develop the natural resources of the state, provide for flood control, preserve wildlife, protect the tax base and promote the health, safety and general welfare of the people of New Mexico. The population of the District is approximately 220,000.

There is slightly more than 2.5 million acres of land in Dona Ana County of which 75 percent is federally owned. Of that, BLM has management oversight of 55% with Department of Defense, U.S. Department of Agriculture, National Park Service and U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service managing the remainder 45 percent. In May of 2014, the President designated 60% or 496,330 acres of the BLM land within Dona Ana County as the Organ Mountains-Desert Peaks National Monument. The monument consumes the most productive BLM ranchland in the District. Forty (40) Dona Ana County federal lands ranchers, along with the recreational community, will forever be impacted by this monument designation.

Therefore, it is critical that the development of the resource management plan for the nonmonument BLM lands and, more importantly, the management plan for the Organ Mountains-Desert Peaks National Monument, be conducted in a manner that allows full and meaningful government-to-government interaction between BLM and the Dona Ana Soil and Water Conservation District. This interaction provides a mutual effort that assures the state of New Mexico (1) it's natural resources are managed in a manner consistent with local land use plans, (2) its federal lands ranchers will have the ability to protect their investment and operate a sustainably viable ranching operation into the future, and (3) historical recreational access to these public lands will always be honored. Each of these activities supports the multiple-use economic contribution to the county tax base as intended by the U.S. Congress in the passage of FLPMA in 1976.

Elephant Butte Irrigation District, New Mexico

Elephant Butte Irrigation District (EBID) is a political subdivision of the State of New Mexico with its headquarters located in Las Cruces. EBID was formed under the statutes entitled "Irrigation Districts Cooperating with the United States under Reclamation Laws" found at NMSA 1978 Sec. 73-10-1, et seq., and 73-11-1, et seq. There are 90,640 acres of land within the EBID boundaries that have authorized water rights, with an estimated 7,900 water users. The EBID Board of Directors sets the yearly charges for water right holders. Assessments are levied on lands that are capable of receiving water through EBID's water delivery system. Any federal government programs or policies directly affect EBID's ability to provide services and water to landowners/users.

Hidalgo Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

Hidalgo County, New Mexico is the southernmost county of the State of New Mexico created in 1919 by the State Legislature. Our county is named for the town north of Mexico City where the Treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo was signed. There is a total area of 3,446 square miles of which 3,437 square miles is land and 9.1 square miles is water. The southern part of the County, which is bounded on the East and the South by Mexico, is known as the Boot Heel. Federal acreage of Hidalgo County is 882,679; State acreage of Hidalgo County is 354,431 acres; and U.S. Forest Service land is 77,200 acres. Any federal actions dealing with land use directly affects our County and is extremely important to our economic wellbeing.

Otero Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

The Otero Soil and Water Conservation District is an entity of state government authorized by the New Mexico Legislature to conserve and develop the natural resources in Otero County through the Soil and Water Conservation District Act. The boundaries of the Otero SWCD are nearly contiguous with those of Otero County. Approximately 93% of the total land area within the Otero SWCD is federally managed or tribal lands. Of that total, 1,537,837 acres, or 36% of the total land area for which Otero SWCD is responsible, are managed by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM).

Protect Americans Now, New Mexico

Protect Americans Now is a 501(c)3 nonprofit organization dedicated to opposing government overreach whether it be state or federal. Our organization supports multi-use and has joined this 2.0 Coalition based on the fact that multi-use on BLM land in the state of New Mexico provides billions of dollars in revenue for the state of New Mexico. Our organization feels it is of utmost importance to be involved in the proposed rule changing process through comments, as well as, educating the public on how these rule changes can and will affect them and to be a voice for Agriculture and other land uses to ensure sustainability for generations to come.

New Mexico has over 13 million acres of BLM land that provides billions of dollars in revenue to the state through livestock production. Leases provide millions of dollars to the state tax base allowing thousands of citizens to have the ability to use the federal lands. Any proposed changes could be devastating to thousands of jobs and multiple industries.

Santa Fe-Pojoaque Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

The Santa Fe-Pojoaque Soil and Water Conservation District was formed December 11, 1941 by the New Mexico Legislature as a governmental subdivision of the state. The Santa Fe-Pojoaque SWCD is responsible for land areas in Santa Fe, Los Alamos and Rio Arriba Counties encompassing 1,073,426 acres. Our description and responsibilities are described in Sections 73-20-25 through 73-20-48 NMSA 1978 of the New Mexico Soil and Water Conservation District Act. The Board of Supervisors is charged with matters affecting soil erosion and flood water and sediment damage. Other duties include the coordination in matters of research, investigations, and surveys with government agencies. The results are published and disseminated with remedies and control measures related to such findings. The District coordinates projects on the land with federal, state, local agencies, as well as, private and tribal landowners for the enhancement of the resource base. The District manages seven large flood control dams located on BLM land, which makes coordination with the BLM imperative.

The Santa Fe-Pojoaque Soil and Water Conservation District Land Use Plan was updated and adopted on December 9, 2015, by the District's Board of Supervisors. The District is geographically located in the northern two thirds of Santa Fe County, all of Los Alamos County and a small portion of southeastern Rio Arriba County. Within the boundaries of the Santa Fe-Pojoaque Soil and Water Conservation District there are a number of jurisdictions of governance including: the City of Santa Fe, and traditional communities of Sombrillo, Cuartelez, La Puebla and Rancho del Valle, Chimayo, Rio Chiquito, Cundiyo, Nambe, Pojoaque, Jacona, Jaconita, El Rancho, Cuyamunque, El Valle de Arroyo Seco, Tesuque, Rio en Medio, Chupadero, Canada de Los Alamos, Aqua Fria, Glorieta, La Cienega, La Cieneguilla, Madrid, Los Cerrillos, Lamy, Galisteo and Contemporary Communities, such as San Marcos and Eldorado.

Sierra Soil and Water Conservation District, New Mexico

The Sierra Soil and Water Conservation District (SSWCD) of New Mexico, was created by the New Mexico State Legislature under the Soil and Water Conservation District Act (Act) [73-20-25 NMSA 1978] to: 1) control and prevent soil erosion; 2) prevent floodwater and sediment damage; 3) further conservation development, beneficial application and proper disposal of water; 4) promote the use of impounded waters for recreation, propagation of fish and wildlife, irrigation and for urban industrial needs; and 5) by the application of these measures, conserve and develop the natural resources of the state, provided for flood control, enhance wildlife, protect the tax base and promote the health, safety and general welfare of the people of New Mexico.

The SSWCD is located in central New Mexico consisting of the northern three-quarters of Sierra County, the south one-quarter of Socorro County and a small area of south-eastern Catron

County, New Mexico. The Sierra SWCD lies entirely within the Rio Grande Watershed, comprised of the following:

State Land - 186,240 acres BLM Land - 718,127 acres Forest Service Land - 486,417 acres Private Land - 801,844 acres

SSWCD, under the Act as noted in "73-20-44, Districts; description; general powers of districts," may conduct a wide array of research, investigations, and surveys to facilitate conservation and development. Included to our responsibilities is the extended authority to develop comprehensive plans for natural resource conservation, development, and utilization including flood prevention, control and prevention of soil erosion and the development, utilization and disposal of water.

SSWCD can also act as agent for any instrumentality or agency of the state or the federal government in the acquisition, construction, operation or administration of a natural resource conservation, utilization or development project or program within the district.

Oregon

Baker County, Oregon

Baker County is in rural Eastern Oregon, with Idaho on our eastern border. Baker City is our largest city and is our county seat accessed mainly by Interstate 84 traveling east and west. The county consists of 3,089 square miles containing 1,976,960 acres of which 51.5% is government managed (controlled) by Federal and State.

Baker County's economy is largely based in agriculture through farming, ranching and grazing on public managed lands. We have some mining, mostly small private companies, and our timber industry has been reduced drastically from 6 mills in the 1970's to none today. Most of our timber production is from private lands and some from public managed lands due to reductions on our public lands from little forest management being accomplished. This past year was the worst year ever for forest fires. Five major fires destroyed 180,000 total acres in Baker County. We believe that with more proper forest management, Baker County could once again have a timber producing industry, as well as, increase our mining and grazing industries.

Eastern Oregon Mining Association, Oregon

The Eastern Oregon Mining Association (EOMA) advocates for miners in the Eastern half of Oregon. The Federal overreach on mining laws by the Forest Service and BLM grow by the year. Recently, Baker County Commissioners have reached out to the Public Lands users, including the EOMA. A consortium of public lands users have put together a Baker County Resource Plan. The County Commissioners have contacted the Forest Agencies for Coordination, including Mining Plans of Operation that have languished for over ten years. The

agencies are now refusing to coordinate with the County. The BLM 2.0, if initiated, will dilute and prevent any coordination with the County giving it the same consideration as a single comment on Forest Plans or anything connected to Public Lands.

Forest Access For All, Oregon

Forest Access For All is an organization based in Baker County, Oregon. Our organization has an encompassing membership in the Northwest, but our focus has been directed on the Northeastern section of Oregon. We advocate multiple use, covering all aspects of public land interest. Only open access can facilitate the economic interests and personal wellbeing of the people who are surrounded by millions of acres of public lands. Over half of Baker County is managed by the federal government.

BLM Vale District, manages 5.1million acres in Eastern Oregon with 500,000 of these acres centered in eight counties surrounding Baker County and the remainder can be accessed in a day or less travel time.

Any attempt to restrict input from the local people and counties should be seriously resisted.

<u>Texas</u>

American Stewards of Liberty, Texas

American Stewards of Liberty (ASL) is a national 501(c)(3) non-profit organization whose mission is to protect property rights. Its members consist of landowners primarily involved in ranching, farming, timber harvest, mineral extraction and oil and gas production. ASL also works with local governments assisting them in coordination for the purposes of reaching consistency on policy issues with the federal land management agencies. Many of ASL's members and local government participants are in the West relying on the productive use of the federal lands.

<u>Utah</u>

Carbon County, Utah

Carbon County is a rural county located in Central Eastern Utah. The latest census shows fewer than 20,000 people reside here. Our county seat and largest city is Price, Utah. Carbon County contains 950,380 acres of land, of which 47% is federally owned (44% BLM and 3% USFS). However, almost 80% of the mineral and coal rights are controlled either by the Federal or State government leaving a large portion of the private lands in split estate.

Coal mining for the operation of our power plants and for export out of the county has been a mainstay for jobs and business for the past 100+ years. Carbon County has largely been dependent on oil and gas extraction for the past 15 - 20 years.

The western portion of the county has been a significant area for the extraction of coal bed methane. It also contains approximately 30,000 acres of Forest Service lands in the Manti La Sal National Forest. The watershed within the Forest is virtually Carbon County's only source of water. The Forest also contains coal and oil reserves and presently one working coal mine that employs residents of not only Carbon County, but also of Sanpete and Emery Counties.

Eastern Carbon County is a part of the Green River geographic formation, which is recognized as internationally significant for oil and gas potential. Oil sands in the eastern portion of the county also have the potential to provide additional energy sources.

The entire county provides grazing for livestock. The majority of our ranching operations in the county depend on federal grazing permits for at least a portion of the year in order to stay in business.

Outdoor recreation and direct support services to our natural resource use community make up the remainder of our related activities; therefore, the manner in which the BLM manages public lands is extremely important to Carbon County.

Juab County, Utah

Juab County is a small rural county located in central Utah. Juab County has a population of approximately 13,000 people. The county has an area of 2,183,681 acres. 1,569,966 acres are under federal control with 1,442,917 acres under BLM jurisdiction, 109,917 under Forest Service, and 17,992 controlled by the Fish and Wildlife service.

Federal lands are very important to the economy and culture of our county. They provide many opportunities including mining, grazing, recreation, ranching, clay production, etc. for our residents and visitors. Many families depend on these public lands for a good share if not all of their subsistence.

The county has been heavily engaged in issues concerning use of, planning for, transportation within, and other topics of management of these public lands. It is imperative that we do not lose any provisions of federal law and current planning regulations that would in any way impair our ability to be involved early and participate fully in land use decisions concerning these lands.

Kane County, Utah

Kane County is a rural county located in southern Utah. Its estimated population is about 7,000 people. Its county seat and largest city is Kanab. Kane County contains more than 2.6 million acres of land, of which nearly 85 percent is owned by the federal government. Much of that land is managed by the Bureau of Land Management (BLM). Kane County's economy and its citizens depend on this land for ranching, outdoor recreation, mining and mineral production, and related activities. Therefore, the manner in which the BLM manages public lands is extremely important to Kane County.

Piute County, Utah

Piute County, Utah is located in the southern, central part of the state. Junction is the historic town where the county seat is located. Piute is the second least populated county in the State of Utah with a population of 1,556. Circleville is the largest town in the County located in the southwestern part and is where the notorious outlaw Butch Cassidy grew up on a ranch. The Silver King Mine is in the Gold Mountain Mining District, which is part of the Tushar Range on the Fishlake National Forest where people have been searching for gold since 1860. Piute County has multiple federal land agencies that manage land within the county. Any plans or policy changes directly affect our tourism and economic wellbeing.

Sanpete County, Utah

Sanpete County is a rural county located in Central Utah with an estimated population of 28,778. The county has 13 municipalities with Manti City as the county seat. The County contains approximately 1,022,603 acres of land, of which 57.8% is public land. The BLM manages 13.4% of land in the county. Agriculture, mining, and outdoor recreation are important to the local economy and its residents. The management decisions made by the BLM and other land management agencies can have a direct impact on the growth and success of the county. It is critical that Sanpete County government and citizen have the opportunity to give input on how public lands are managed.

Sevier County, Utah

Sevier County is the shopping and High School sports hub for most of central Utah. With I-70 running through the county, transportation and shipping is a major industry for the County.

Over 80% of the land in Sevier County is controlled by state or federal agencies. The economy of the county, livelihood of our people and the lifestyle we enjoy is based on access to and use of these public lands. Our major tourism draw is the use of the Piute ATV trail network, which is becoming more restricted with each new planning effort by BLM and USFS and the regulatory agencies such as EPA, USFWS and Corps of Engineers. Agriculture and Coal Mining are still the major non-government industries in our county. Our new oil industry, although it does not create a lot of jobs, does provide a good tax base for the county.

Wayne County, Utah

Wayne County is located in South Central Utah. The population is approximately 2,700 people. Loa is the county seat located on the western side of the county. There are seven (7) small communities with Loa having the largest population of about 550 people. Within Wayne County, the BLM controls approximately 892,000 acres, Forest Service 160,000 acres, Capitol Reef and Canyon Lands National Park Service 200,000 acres, Glen Canyon National Recreation Area 100,000 acres, the State Institutional Trust Lands is 170,000 acres and Division of Wildlife at 768 acres which leaves a total of 58,000 acres of private land within the County. Ranching, Government, and Tourism are the main sources of our economy. Any changes to how these

lands are managed within our County have significant and potentially detrimental consequences to our economy, citizens and community wellbeing.

Wyoming

Big Horn County, Wyoming

Big Horn County is a rural county located in northern Wyoming. Its population is slightly less than 12,000 people. The county seat is located in Basin. Big Horn County contains 2,007,680 acres of land, of which 80 percent is federally owned including 1,151, 175 of public land managed by the BLM. Big Horn County's economy depends on the use of these lands for oil and gas development and production, mining and mineral production, agriculture, ranching and outdoor recreation. The manner in which the BLM manages public lands is critically important to Big Horn County.